
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

Entry 1 School Information and Cover Page 

(New schools that were not open for instruction for 

the 2018-19 school year are not required to complete 

or submit an annual report this year). 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

Please be advised that you will need to complete this cover page (including signatures) before all of the 

other tasks assigned to you by your authorizer are visible on your task page. While completing this cover 
page task, please ensure that you select the correct authorizer (as of June 30, 2019) or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

BASIC INFORMATION 

a. SCHOOL NAME 

(Select name from the drop down menu) 

a1. Popular School Name 

(Optional) 

b. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

Please select the correct authorizer as of 
June 30, 2019 or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

c. DISTRICT / CSD OF LOCATION 

d. DATE OF INITIAL CHARTER 

e. DATE FIRST OPENED FOR 

INSTRUCTION 

SOUTH BRONX CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOL IV 

SBCCS IV 

Regents Authorized Charter School 

NYC CSD 9 

03/2016 

08/2017 
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f. APPROVED SCHOOL MISSION (Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized 

schools only) 

MISSION STATEMENT 

Classical Charter Schools prepares K 8th grade scholars in the South Bronx to excel in college 

preparatory high schools. Through a classical curriculum and highly structured setting, students become 

liberated scholars and citizens of impeccable character who achieve proficiency in and advanced mastery 

of New York State Performance Standards. 

g. KEY DESIGN ELEMENTS (Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized schools 

only) 
KEY DESIGN ELEMENTS (Brief heading followed by a description of each Key Design Elements 

(KDE). KDEs are those general aspects of the school that are innovative or unique to the school’s 

mission and goals, are core to the school’s overall design, and are critical to its success. The 

design elements may include a specific content area focus; unique student populations to be 

served; specific educational programs or pedagogical approaches; unique calendar, schedule, or 
configurations of students and staff; and/or innovative organizational structures and systems. 

Variable 1 Classical Framework: We strongly believe that our school
model best meets the needs of all students in our target
population. The key components of a classical education in
the early years focus on a core curriculum, the development
of strong literacy and numeracy skills, knowledge, and
understanding of elementary facts, with less emphasis
on“higher level” thinking, until later grades. In all grades, our
scholars develop core knowledge in the basic subjects of
reading, writing, math, science, and history. Subjects are
taught directly and sequentially, as clearly elucidated in the
Common Core State Standards, so scholars can master skills 
and content each step of the way. Within this classical
framework, SBCCS IV provides an educational program firmly
based on two principles: 

All children can achieve academic success when given a
rigorous and organized curriculum, effective teaching, and a
structured environment. 

Development of respectful, compassionate, productive
citizens is a fundamental aim of education. 

Variable 2 Rigorous and Organized Curriculum: We believe that an
organized, clear, and sequential curriculum, fully aligned
with the Common Core and New York State Learning
Standards, focused on ensuring strong literacy skills in all
students, will best serve the educational needs of our target
population. 

Our mission endeavors to prepare its scholars to “achieve 
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proficiency in and advanced mastery of New York State
performance standards.” SBCCS IV has a rigorous, sequential
and modular standards based curriculum, where the 
standards are embedded in the unit plans, lesson plans,
assessments, and even assessment data. Our curricular 
philosophy is to create and constantly improve upon
standard based scopes and sequences, cohesive and
interrelated unit plans, and detailed and flexible lesson
plans, all in an organized format for all subjects and grades.
New York State Learning standards dictate what we must
teach and what the scholars must master to be promoted to
the next grade, and the alignment across the curriculum
gives us clear and measurable data from which we can
measure scholar achievement. 

Variable 3 Effective Teaching: The recruitment, development, and
retention of effective teachers is critical to high scholar
achievement. Effective teachers manage their
classroom,know their content, develop skills sequentially
over time, use data strategically to inform their instruction,
and do whatever it takes to maximize impact. There is no
single“recruiting season”, and developing successful
connections to specific candidates requires a continuous
effort and targeted approach. SBCCS IV recruits teachers
from a variety of sources, including utilizing its own
ClassiCorps Fellowship, critical networking with such
organizations as Teach for America, New Leaders for New
Schools, strategic website postings, professional job fairs,
and outreach to selective businesses and industries. 
Similarly, teacher development is also a continuous
process.Through summer orientation, weekly grade
meetings,monthly school wide meetings, and ongoing
individual sessions, teachers benefit from over 100 hours of 
Professional Development annually. To attract and retain the
strongest teachers, salaries will be 5% to 10% higher than
those of teachers in New York City’s Extended Time Schools. 

Variable 4 Structured Environment: Within a disciplined
environment,teachers can teach, and all scholars can learn. 
SBCCS IV fosters positive student behavior through
modeling, explicit behavioral instruction, and a transparent
set of expectations shared with families at orientations and
throughout the year. These rules, detailed in the Code of
Conduct, include recognition of the school’s core values and
clear consequences for infractions. 

Variable 5 Development of Respectful, Compassionate, and Productive
Citizens: We believe that the development of
respectful,compassionate, and productive citizens is a
fundamental purpose of education. This is fully consistent
with the ideals of classical education. All scholars receive 
one hour of weekly character education per week. As
scholars acclimate to our culture of positive behavior and
character, less direct instruction and teacher intervention 
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Variable 6 

Variable 7 

Variable 8 

Variable 9 

Variable 10 

Need additional space for 

variables 

h. SCHOOL WEB ADDRESS (URL) 

i. TOTAL MAX APPROVED 

ENROLLMENT FOR THE 2018-19 

SCHOOL YEAR (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

j. TOTAL STUDENT ENROLLMENT 

ON JUNE 30, 2019 (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

will be required. All scholars will perform age appropriate
community service based on themes such as the
environment and care of senior citizens. 

Family Engagement: We value our scholars and our
families,which are so critical to our scholars’ success. For 
young children to succeed academically, the school and
parents must develop positive and communicative
relationships. All families receive regular communication
regarding their scholars’ academic and behavioral progress,
using grades and test scores as benchmarks for discussion.
We have a Family Advisory Council (FAC), which serves as a
liaison between our parents and administration. 

(No response) 

(No response) 

(No response) 

(No response) 

No 

https://classicalcharterschools.org/ 

180 

148 

k. GRADES SERVED IN SCHOOL YEAR 2018-19 (does not include Pre-K program 

students) 
Check all that apply 

Grades Served K, 1, 2 

4 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	

	

	

	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	
	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	

	
	
	

	 	
	 	

l1. DOES THE SCHOOL CONTRACT No 

WITH A CHARTER OR 

EDUCATIONAL MANAGEMENT 

ORGANIZATION? 

FACILITIES INFORMATION 

m. FACILITIES 

Will the school maintain or operate multiple sites in 2019-20? 

No, just one site. 

School Site 1 (Primary) 

m1. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on Site 1 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical Address Phone Number District/CSD Grades to be 
Served at Site 
for coming year
(K 5, 6 9, etc.) 

Receives Rental 
Assistance for 
Which Grades (If
yes, enter the
appropriate
grades. If no,
enter No). 

3458 Third 
Site 1 Avenue Bronx, 929 285 3025 NYC CSD 9 K 3 K 3 

New York 10456 
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m1a. Please provide the contact information for Site 1. 

School 
Leader 

Operati
onal 
Leader 

Complia 
nce 
Contact 

Complai 
nt 
Contact 

DASA 
Coordin 
ator 

Phone 
Contact 
for After 
Hours 
Emerge
ncies 

Name 

Rebecca 
Scognamiglio 

Stephanie Montero 

John Macapagal 

Rebecca 
Scognamiglio 

Elizabeth Berger 

Rebecca 
Scognamiglio 

m1b. Is site 1 in public (co-
located) space or in private 

space? 

Work Phone 

Private Space 

Alternate Phone Email Address 

IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m1d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection 

Report for school site 1 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Site 1 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/110401341/yFPTXS6fVy/ 

Site 1 Fire Inspection Report 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/110401341/nBJtmqxAKU/ 

CHARTER REVISIONS DURING THE 2018-19 SCHOOL YEAR 
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n1. Were there any revisions to No 

the school’s charter during the 

2018-19 school year? (Please 

include approved or pending 

material and non-material 
charter revisions). 

ATTESTATION 

o. Individual Primarily Responsible for Submitting the Annual Report. 

Name Leena R Gyftopoulos 

Position (No response) 

Phone/Extension 

Email 

p. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board 

President) below attest that all of the information contained herein is truthful and 

accurate and that this charter school is in compliance with all aspects of its charter, 
and with all pertinent Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and rules. We 

understand that if any information in any part of this report is found to have been 

deliberately misrepresented, that will constitute grounds for the revocation of our 

charter. Check YES if you agree and then use the mouse on your PC or the stylist on 

your mobile device to sign your name). 

Yes 

Signature, Head of Charter School 

Signature, President of the Board of Trustees 
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Date 2019/08/01 

Thank you. 
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  South Bronx Classical Charter School 

3458 Third Avenue 

New York NY 10456 

South Bronx Classical Charter School 

3458 Third Avenue 

New York NY 10456 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
9 METROTECH CENTER   BROOKLYN, N.Y. 11201-3857 

BUREAU OF FIRE PREVENTION 

Public Buildings Unit 
DATE: 01.10.2019. 

PREMISES 

To Whom It May Concern: 

The New York City Fire Department (“FDNY”), Bureau of Fire Prevention, Public Buildings Unit conducted an 

inspection of the above-referenced premises on 05.31.2018. 

The inspection did not reveal any violations that FDNY’s Public Buildings Unit is authorized 

to inspect and enforce. 

The inspection resulted in issuance of violations of the Fire Code or other laws, rules or regulations 

that FDNY’s Public Buildings Unit is authorized to inspect and enforce. 

XXX As of 12.26.2018 documents were submitted to FDNY as proof of correction, and such correction was deemed 

acceptable to FDNY 

The inspection, and a review of premises records, has disclosed that the premises may not be in compliance with 

the lawful occupancy established by the New York City Department of Buildings. 

This letter shall not be construed to be a permit for, or an approval of the premises. FDNY does not certify that the 

premises is free from any violation for which it has not inspected, in accordance with its standard inspection protocols. 

This letter shall not prevent FDNY from inspecting the premises at a later date, requiring the correction of any 

deficiencies its finds at the premises, and/or issuing violations against the premises for conditions that do not comply with 

the Fire Code or other laws, rules or regulations. 

Examined by: _________________________________________ 

Tomasz Korbas, Supervising Inspector, PBU 



      

  
 

       
     

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

  

Page 1 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

This certifies  that the premises described  herein conforms  substantially  to  the approved plans and specifications and to the 
requirements of all applicable laws, rules and regulations for the uses and occupancies specified.  No change of use or occupancy 
shall be made unless a new Certificate of Occupancy is issued. This document  or a copy shall be available for inspection at  the 
building at all reasonable times. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

Borough: Bronx 

3458 THIRD AVENUE Address: 

Building Identification Number (BIN): 2128566 

Block Number: 02609 

Lot Number(s): 2 

Building Type: 
New 

Certificate Type: Final 

Effective Date: 11/21/2018 

This building is subject to this Building Code:  2008 Code 

For zoning lot metes & bounds, please see BISWeb. 

Construction classification: 1-B (2014/2008 Code) 

Building Occupancy Group classification: E (2014/2008 Code) 

Multiple Dwelling Law Classification: None 

No. of stories: 6 Height in feet: 85  No. of dwelling units: 0 

Fire Protection Equipment: 
Standpipe system, Fire alarm system, Sprinkler system, Fire Suppression system 

Type and number of open spaces: 
None associated with this filing. 

This Certificate is issued with the following legal limitations: 
None 

Borough Comments: None 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

CEL OG U 3B MECHANICAL AND METER ROOMS 
(INCIDENTAL USES) 

CEL OG B 3B NURSE ROOM 

CEL 36 OG E 3A ART ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 YEARS 

CEL 33 OG E 3A CLASS ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 YEARS 

CEL 66 OG E 3A MULTI-PURPOSE ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 
YEARS 

CEL OG S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

CEL 39 OG E 3A MUSIC ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 YEARS 

MZ1 8 100 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICE, CONFERENCE ROOM 
AND COPY ROOM 

MZ1 100 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

MZ1 100 E 3A SCHOOL LOBBY 

MZ6 80 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOMS 

MZ6 80 U 3B MECHANICAL ROOM 

001 6 100 U 3B ACCESSORY KITCHEN AND KITCHEN 
STORAGE 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 3 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

001 100 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

001 2 100 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICE 

001 100 E 3A ELEVATOR LOBBY 

001 210 100 A-3 3B CAFETERIA (ACCESSORY USE) 

001 100 U 3B BICYCLE PARKING (ACCESSORY USE) 

002 221 80 E 3A SIX (6) CLASSROOMS - ALL CHILDREN AGE 7-
13 CLASSROOM #1; 36 PERSONS / 
CLASSROOM #2; 37 PERSONS CLASSROOM 
#3; 42 PERSONS/ CLASSROOM #4; 36 
PERSONS CLASSROOM #5; 36 PERSONS/ 
CLASSROOM #6; 34 PERSONS 

002 3 80 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICES 

002 80 U 3B MECHANCIAL ROOM (INCIDENTAL USE) 

002 80 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

003 200 80 E 3A SIX (6) CLASSROOMS - ALL CHILDREN AGE 7-
13 CLASSROOM #1; 38 PERSONS / 
CLASSROOM #2; 35 PERSONS CLASSROOM 
#3; 35 PERSONS/ CLASSROOM #4; 24 
PERSONS CLASSROOM #5; 30 PERSONS/ 
CLASSROOM #6; 38 PERSONS 

003 80 U 3B MECHANICAL ROOMS 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 





               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

Page 5 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

006 100 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

006 006 10 100 U 3B TERRACE #2 (ACCESSORY USE) 

006 006 10 100 U 3B TERRACE #1 (ACCESSORY USE) 

ROF 60 U 3B STAIR BULKHEAD 

ROF 60 U 3B ELEVATOR MACHINE ROOM 

END OF SECTION 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

END OF DOCUMENT  11/21/2018 2:31:53 PM 



 

 
 

 

 
  

                       
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

                                                                                                    

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

        

        

    

     

 
 

      

  

 

         

  
 

      

                
  

 

 

 

                

       

            

          

 

 

 

     
  

                             
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  South Bronx Classical Charter School 

3458 Third Avenue 

New York NY 10456 

South Bronx Classical Charter School 

3458 Third Avenue 

New York NY 10456 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
9 METROTECH CENTER   BROOKLYN, N.Y. 11201-3857 

BUREAU OF FIRE PREVENTION 

Public Buildings Unit 
DATE: 01.10.2019. 

PREMISES 

To Whom It May Concern: 

The New York City Fire Department (“FDNY”), Bureau of Fire Prevention, Public Buildings Unit conducted an 

inspection of the above-referenced premises on 05.31.2018. 

The inspection did not reveal any violations that FDNY’s Public Buildings Unit is authorized 

to inspect and enforce. 

The inspection resulted in issuance of violations of the Fire Code or other laws, rules or regulations 

that FDNY’s Public Buildings Unit is authorized to inspect and enforce. 

XXX As of 12.26.2018 documents were submitted to FDNY as proof of correction, and such correction was deemed 

acceptable to FDNY 

The inspection, and a review of premises records, has disclosed that the premises may not be in compliance with 

the lawful occupancy established by the New York City Department of Buildings. 

This letter shall not be construed to be a permit for, or an approval of the premises. FDNY does not certify that the 

premises is free from any violation for which it has not inspected, in accordance with its standard inspection protocols. 

This letter shall not prevent FDNY from inspecting the premises at a later date, requiring the correction of any 

deficiencies its finds at the premises, and/or issuing violations against the premises for conditions that do not comply with 

the Fire Code or other laws, rules or regulations. 

Examined by: _________________________________________ 

Tomasz Korbas, Supervising Inspector, PBU 



      

  
 

       
     

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

  

Page 1 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

This certifies  that the premises described  herein conforms  substantially  to  the approved plans and specifications and to the 
requirements of all applicable laws, rules and regulations for the uses and occupancies specified.  No change of use or occupancy 
shall be made unless a new Certificate of Occupancy is issued. This document  or a copy shall be available for inspection at  the 
building at all reasonable times. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

Borough: Bronx 

3458 THIRD AVENUE Address: 

Building Identification Number (BIN): 2128566 

Block Number: 02609 

Lot Number(s): 2 

Building Type: 
New 

Certificate Type: Final 

Effective Date: 11/21/2018 

This building is subject to this Building Code:  2008 Code 

For zoning lot metes & bounds, please see BISWeb. 

Construction classification: 1-B (2014/2008 Code) 

Building Occupancy Group classification: E (2014/2008 Code) 

Multiple Dwelling Law Classification: None 

No. of stories: 6 Height in feet: 85  No. of dwelling units: 0 

Fire Protection Equipment: 
Standpipe system, Fire alarm system, Sprinkler system, Fire Suppression system 

Type and number of open spaces: 
None associated with this filing. 

This Certificate is issued with the following legal limitations: 
None 

Borough Comments: None 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

CEL OG U 3B MECHANICAL AND METER ROOMS 
(INCIDENTAL USES) 

CEL OG B 3B NURSE ROOM 

CEL 36 OG E 3A ART ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 YEARS 

CEL 33 OG E 3A CLASS ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 YEARS 

CEL 66 OG E 3A MULTI-PURPOSE ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 
YEARS 

CEL OG S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

CEL 39 OG E 3A MUSIC ROOM CHILDREN AGE 7-13 YEARS 

MZ1 8 100 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICE, CONFERENCE ROOM 
AND COPY ROOM 

MZ1 100 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

MZ1 100 E 3A SCHOOL LOBBY 

MZ6 80 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOMS 

MZ6 80 U 3B MECHANICAL ROOM 

001 6 100 U 3B ACCESSORY KITCHEN AND KITCHEN 
STORAGE 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 3 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

001 100 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

001 2 100 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICE 

001 100 E 3A ELEVATOR LOBBY 

001 210 100 A-3 3B CAFETERIA (ACCESSORY USE) 

001 100 U 3B BICYCLE PARKING (ACCESSORY USE) 

002 221 80 E 3A SIX (6) CLASSROOMS - ALL CHILDREN AGE 7-
13 CLASSROOM #1; 36 PERSONS / 
CLASSROOM #2; 37 PERSONS CLASSROOM 
#3; 42 PERSONS/ CLASSROOM #4; 36 
PERSONS CLASSROOM #5; 36 PERSONS/ 
CLASSROOM #6; 34 PERSONS 

002 3 80 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICES 

002 80 U 3B MECHANCIAL ROOM (INCIDENTAL USE) 

002 80 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

003 200 80 E 3A SIX (6) CLASSROOMS - ALL CHILDREN AGE 7-
13 CLASSROOM #1; 38 PERSONS / 
CLASSROOM #2; 35 PERSONS CLASSROOM 
#3; 35 PERSONS/ CLASSROOM #4; 24 
PERSONS CLASSROOM #5; 30 PERSONS/ 
CLASSROOM #6; 38 PERSONS 

003 80 U 3B MECHANICAL ROOMS 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 4 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

003 7 80 E 3A TUTOR ROOMS 

003 3 80 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICE 

004 200 80 E 3A SIX (6) CLASSROOMS - ALL CHILDREN AGE 7-
13 CLASSROOM #1; 38 PERSONS / 
CLASSROOM #2; 35 PERSONS CLASSROOM 
#3; 35 PERSONS/ CLASSROOM #4; 24 
PERSONS CLASSROOM #5; 30 PERSONS/ 
CLASSROOM #6; 38 PERSONS 

004 7 80 E 3A TUTOR ROOMS 

004 3 80 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICES 

004 004 80 U 3B MECHANICAL ROOMS 

005 5 80 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICES 

005 80 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

005 80 U 3B MECHANICAL ROOM 

005 172 80 E 3A FIVE (5) CLASSROOMS- ALL CHILDREN AGE 7-
13 CLASSROOM #1; 37 PERSONS / 
CLASSROOM #2; 27 PERSONS CLASSROOM 
#3; 35 PERSONS/ CLASSROOM #4; 35 
PERSONS CLASSROOM #5; 38 PERSONS 

006 11 100 B 3B ACCESSORY OFFICES AND CONFERENCE 
ROOM 

006 219 100 A-3 3B GYMNASIUM (ACCESSORY USE) 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

  

                  
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

Page 5 of 5 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number:      

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

006 100 S-1 3B ACCESSORY STORAGE ROOM 

006 006 10 100 U 3B TERRACE #2 (ACCESSORY USE) 

006 006 10 100 U 3B TERRACE #1 (ACCESSORY USE) 

ROF 60 U 3B STAIR BULKHEAD 

ROF 60 U 3B ELEVATOR MACHINE ROOM 

END OF SECTION 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

END OF DOCUMENT 11/21/2018 2:31:53 PM 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	

Entry 2 NYS School Report Card Link 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

SOUTH BRONX CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOL IV 

1. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

(For technical reasons, please re select 
authorizer name from the drop down 

menu). 

2. NEW YORK STATE REPORT 

CARD 

Provide a direct URL or web link 

to the most recent New York 

State School Report Card for the 

charter school (See 

https://reportcards.nysed.gov/). 

(Charter schools completing year 
one will not yet have a School 
Report Card or link to one. Please 

type "URL is not available" in the 

space provided.) 

REGENTS Authorized Charter School 

https://data.nysed.gov/profile.php?instid=800000089044 

1 / 1 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	

	 	
	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	
	

	 	
	 	 	 	

	
	

	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	

	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

Entry 3 Progress Toward Goals 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

PROGRESS TOWARD CHARTER GOALS 

Board of Regents authorized and NYCDOE authorized charter schools only. Complete the tables provided. 
List each goal and measure as contained in the school’s currently approved charter, and indicate whether 
the school has met or not met the goal. Please provide information for all goals by November 1st. 

1. ACADEMIC STUDENT PERFORMANCE GOALS 

If performance data is not available by August 1st, please state this in the last column and update by 

November 1st. 

2018-19 Progress Toward Attainment of Academic Goals 

Academ 
ic Goal 
1 

Academic Student 
Performance Goal 

Scholars will 
demonstrate 
proficiency in
reading. 

Measure Used to 
Evaluate Progress
Toward Attainment of 
Goal 

a) 80% of all scholars
who have been 
enrolled at SBCCS IV 
for 2 full academic 
years or more will
score at Level 3 or 
higher on the State
English Language
Arts Test (ELA). 

(b) the SBCCS IV
average score on the
NYS ELA exam will 
exceed the average
score of its home 
district and of the 
City as a whole, for
each grade. 

(a) 80% of all
scholars who 
have been enrolled 
at SBCCS IV for 2 full 
academic years or 
more 
will score at Level 3 
or higher on the 

Goal Met or Not Met Indicate if data is not 
available. If/when
available, Describe 
Efforts School Will 
Take If Goal Is Not 
Met 

SBCCS IV does not 
yet have testing
grades. 

1 / 6 



	 	

	
	

	

	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	
	 	 	
	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	

	 	 	
	 	

	
	

	

	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	
	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	

	

	

2 

Scholars will Academ demonstrate ic Goal proficiency in
mathematics. 

Scholars will Academ demonstrate ic Goal proficiency in3 science. 

Academ 
ic Goal 
4 

Academ 
ic Goal 
5 

Academ 
ic Goal 

State Mathematics 
Test. 

(b) the SBCCS IV
average score on the
State Mathematics 
Test will exceed the 
average score of its
home district and of 
the City as a whole,
for each grade.
(c) beginning in
grade 2, each cohort
of SBCCS IV scholars 
will improve their
math scores by an
average of 3
percentiles per year,
as measured by the
State Test. 

(a) 60% of all fourth
grade
scholars who have 
been enrolled at 
SBCCS IV for 2 full 
academic years or
more will score at 
Level 3 or 
higher on the State
Science Test. 

(b) 60% of all eighth
grade
scholars who have 
been enrolled at 
SBCCS IV for 2 full 
academic years or
more will score at 
Level 3 or higher on
the State Science 
Test. 

SBCCS IV does not 
yet have testing
grades. 

SBCCS IV does not 
yet have testing
grades. 

2 / 6 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	

	

	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

	 	
	

	
	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	
	

	
	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	
	

	
	

	 	 	
	 	

	
	
	 	

	
	 	 	

	
	

	 	 	
	

	 	 	

6 

Academ 
ic Goal 
7 

Academ 
ic Goal 
8 

Academ 
ic Goal 
9 

Academ 
ic Goal 
10 

2. Do have more academic goals 

to add? 

No 

3. Do have more academic goals 

to add? 

No 

4. ORGANIZATIONAL GOALS 

2018-19 Progress Toward Attainment of Organizational Goals 

Organizational Goal Measure Used to 
Evaluate Progress 

Goal Met or Not Met If Not Met, Describe 
Efforts School Will 
Take 

(a) The average daily
attendance rate will 
meet 
or exceed 95% each 
year. 

Org
Goal 1 

SBCCS IV will 
demonstrate strong
annual attendance 
and enrollment. 

(b) the SBCCS IV
waiting list will
exceed 1.5 
applications per
available seat. 

(c) SBCCS IV will
retain its scholars at 
an annual rate of 
90% or more during 

(a) SBCCS IV's
average daily
attendance was 
95.72% in 
2018 2019. 

(b) This goal was
met. SBCCS IV 
received 756 
Kindergarten student
applications for 60
available seats. 
SBCCS IV waiting list
for Kindergarten
included students, 
which far exceeds the 
1.5 ratio. 

(c) SBCCS IV retained 

3 / 6 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	

	 	 	
	 	 	
	

	
	

	

	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	
	

	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	
	

	 	

	 	
	
	

	 	
	 	
	 	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

the term of the 90% of its scholars in 
charter. 2017 2018. We do 

not yet have
retention data for 
2018 2019. 

Org
Goal 2 

Org
Goal 3 

Org
Goal 4 

Org
Goal 5 

Org
Goal 6 

Org
Goal 7 

Org
Goal 8 

Org
Goal 9 

Org
Goal 10 

Org
Goal 11 

Org
Goal 12 

Org 

SBCCS IV will provide
scholars with a safe 
learning environment
with strong
communication on 
scholar achievement 
between 
home and school. 

(a) 85% of SBCCS
parents through the
NYC Department of
Education’s Learning
Environment Survey
will consider SBCCS a 
“safe” school. 

(b) 85% of SBCCS IV
parents through the
NYC Department of
Education’s Learning
Environment Survey
will indicate strong
communication 
between school and 
home regarding
scholar achievement. 

Goal was met 
according to the
2018 2019 NYC DOE 
Family Survey. 
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Goal 13 

Org
Goal 14 

Org
Goal 15 

Org
Goal 16 

Org
Goal 17 

Org
Goal 18 

Org
Goal 19 

Org
Goal 20 

5. Do have more organizational No 

goals to add? 

6. FINANCIAL GOALS 
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2018-19 Progress Toward Attainment of Financial Goals 

Financia 
l Goal 1 

Financia 
l Goal 2 

Financia 
l Goal 3 

Financia 
l Goal 4 

Financia 
l Goal 5 

Financial Goals 

SBCCS IV will 
demonstrate 
fiduciary
responsibility in
managing public and
private resources. 

Measure Used to 
Evaluate Progress 

a) SBCCS IV will use
Generally Accepted
Accounting Practices
(GAAP)
independently
verified 
through an annual
external audit. 

(b) SBCCS IV will
produce financial 
reports
demonstrating fiscal
transparency and
sound financial 
standing. 

7. Do have more financial goals No 

to add? 

Thank you. 

Goal Met or Not Met If Not Met, Describe 
Efforts School Will 
Take 

SBCCS IV operates in
accordance with its 
Financial Polices and 
Procedures which is 
approved by the
Board of Trustees and 
overseen by an
independent auditing
firm. The 2018 2019 
financial audit will 
occur in September
2019. 

6 / 6 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Entry 4 Expenditures per Child 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

SOUTH BRONX CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOL IVSection Heading 

Financial Information 

This information is required of ALL charter schools. Provide the following measures of fiscal 
performance of the charter school in Appendix B (Total Expenditures and Administrative Expenditures 

Per Child): 

1. Total Expenditures Per Child 

To calculate ‘Total Expenditures per Child’ take total expenditures (from the unaudited 2018-
19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) and divide by the year end FTE student enrollment. 
(Integers Only. No dollar signs or commas). 

Note: The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the 

Audit Guide can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil 
calculations: Audit Guide available within the portal or on the NYSED website 

at: http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/regentsoversightplan/otherdocuments/auditguide2018.pdf. 

Line 1: Total Expenditures 3424588 

Line 2: Year End FTE student enrollment 148 

Line 3: Divide Line 1 by Line 2 21139 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

2. Administrative Expenditures per Child 

To calculate ‘Administrative Expenditures per Child' To calculate “Administrative Expenditures per 
Child” first add together the following: 

1. Take the relevant portion from the ‘personnel services cost’ row and the ‘management and general’ 
column (from the unaudited 2018 19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) 

2. Any contracted administrative/management fee paid to other organizations or corporations 

3. Take the total from above and divide it by the year end FTE enrollment. The relevant portion that must 
be included in this calculation is defined as follows: 

Administrative Expenditures: Administration and management of the charter school includes the 

activities and personnel of the offices of the chief school officer, the finance or business offices, school 
operations personnel, data management and reporting, human resources, technology, etc. It also 

includes those administrative and management services provided by other organizations or corporations 

on behalf of the charter school for which the charter school pays a fee or other compensation. Do not 
include the FTE of personnel whose role is to directly support the instructional program. 

Notes: 
The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the Audit Guide 

can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil calculations: 
http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/AuditGuide.html. 
Employee benefit costs or expenditures should not be reported in the above calculations. 

Line 1: Relevant Personnel Services 
Cost (Row) 

Line 2: Management and General Cost
(Column) 

Line 3: Sum of Line 1 and Line 2 

Line 5: Divide Line 3 by the Year End
FTE student enrollment 

Thank you. 

0 

587979 

587979 

3972 
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Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 

Auditors’ Communication on Internal Control 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Classical Charter Schools (the 
“School”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, we considered the School’s internal control over financial 
reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be deficiencies, significant 
deficiencies, or material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all such 
deficiencies have been identified. 

We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as 
defined above. 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the audit committee, 
the Board of Trustees, the State Education Department of the State University of New York, and others 
within the School, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

Harrison, New York 
October 18, 2019 

PKF O’CONNOR DAVIES, LLP 
500 Mamaroneck Avenue, Harrison, NY 10528 I Tel: 914.381.8900  I Fax: 914.381.8910 I www.pkfod.com 

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP is a member firm of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent firms and does not accept any responsibility or 
liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Classical Charter Schools (the 
“School”), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, 
and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

PKF O’CONNOR DAVIES, LLP 
500 Mamaroneck Avenue, Harrison, NY 10528 I Tel: 914.381.8900 I Fax: 914.381.8910 I www.pkfod.com 

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP is a member firm of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent firms and does not accept any 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms 



 
 

 

 

 

Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 
Page 2 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the School as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2019, 
Classical Charter Schools adopted new accounting guidance resulting in a change in the 
manner in which it presents net assets and reports certain aspects of its financial statements. 
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter 

Report on Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole. The accompanying schedule of activities by school for the year ended June 30, 2019 
on page 17 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards on page 18 
as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our 
opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
October 18, 2019 on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope 
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 

Harrison, New York 
October 18, 2019 



       

       

                      

                     

             

       

          

                

          

                       

             

             

                   

             

Classical Charter Schools 

Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 

2019 2018 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 749,467 $ 2,055,672 

Investments 4,266,858 2,340,446 

Grants and contracts receivable 1,236,192 1,728,157 

Due from related party 7,493 -

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 56,918 333,120 

Total Current Assets 6,316,928 6,457,395 

Property and equipment, net 3,099,698 2,239,340 

Restricted cash 305,375 249,353 

Security deposits 1,329,525 530,963 

$ 11,051,526 $ 9,477,051 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

Current Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 587,334 $ 539,938 

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes 790,112 631,104 

Refundable advances 58,781 15,000 

Total Liabilities 1,436,227 1,186,042 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 

Undesignated 9,315,299 7,991,009 

Board-designated 300,000 300,000 

Total Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 9,615,299 8,291,009 

$ 11,051,526 $ 9,477,051 

See notes to financial statements
 3 



                 

              

                    

                      

              

                      

                        

          

          

              

          

              

                                  

          

              

              

Classical Charter Schools 

Statements of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 

REVENUE AND SUPPORT 

State and local per pupil operating revenue 

State and local per pupil facilities funding 

Federal grants 

Federal E-Rate and IDEA 

State and city grants 

Contributions and grants 

Investment income 

Other income 

Total Revenue and Support 

2019 

$ 20,696,902 

2,077,352 

1,806,671 

232,742 

74,479 

1,319,998 

222,918 

16,839 

26,447,901 

$ 

2018 

18,095,631 

624,000 

1,467,189 

146,276 

340,492 

1,401,968 

30,804 

17,600 

22,123,960 

EXPENSES 

Program Services

 Regular education 

Special education 

Total Program Services 

Supporting Services

 Management and general 

Fundraising 

Total Expenses 

18,978,737 

1,644,293 

20,623,030 

4,417,436 

83,145 

25,123,611 

14,151,897

1,212,902 

15,364,799 

4,548,320

-

19,913,119 

Change in Net Assets 1,324,290 2,210,841 

NET ASSETS 

Beginning of year 8,291,009 6,080,168 

End of year $ 9,615,299 $ 8,291,009 

See notes to financial statements
 4 



       

                                       

                                                           

                              

                                               

                                                          

                                                                                           

                                                                                           

                                                                   

                                               

                                                            

                                                                

                                                            

                                                                     

                                                              

                                                                                    

                                                            

                                                            

                                                                     

                                                 

                                                          

                                                            

                                                              

Classical Charter Schools 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

Year Ended June 30, 2019 

2019 

Personnel Services Costs 

Administrative staff personnel 

Instructional personnel 
Non-instructional personnel 

Total Salaries and Staff 

No. of 

Positions 

58 

170 
19 

247 

Regular 

Education 

$ 3,500,724 

7,407,843 
212,796 

11,121,363 

Program Services 

Special 

Education 

$ 332,564 

703,735 
20,215 

1,056,514 

$ 

Total 

3,833,288 

8,111,578 
233,011 

12,177,877 

Management 

and General 

$ 652,945 

1,381,690 
39,690 

2,074,325 

Fundraising 

$ 26,172 

55,382 
1,591 

83,145 

Total 

$ 4,512,405 

9,548,650 
274,292 

14,335,347 

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes 

Retirement 

Legal services 

Accounting/Audit services 

Other purchased/Professional/Consulting services 

Building and land rent/Lease 

Repairs and maintenance 

Insurance 

Utilities 

Supplies/Materials 

Equipment/Furnishing 

Staff development 

Marketing/Recruitment 

Technology 

Food services 

Student services 

Office expense 

Depreciation and amortization 
Other 

Total Expenses 

1,606,534 

359,939 

-

-

734,152 

1,381,221 

182,314 

97,596 

127,428 

255,742 

101,149 

60,790 

215,750 

252,436 

406,840 

1,003,755 

293,926 

267,550 
510,252 

$ 18,978,737 

130,925 

29,333 

-

-

-

112,563 

14,857 

7,954 

10,385 

32,557 

8,243 

-

17,583 

20,572 

51,793 

99,538 

23,954 

21,804 
5,718 

$ 1,644,293 $ 

1,737,459 

389,272 

-

-

734,152 

1,493,784 

197,171 

105,550 

137,813 

288,299 

109,392 

60,790 

233,333 

273,008 

458,633 

1,103,293 

317,880 

289,354 
515,970 

20,623,030 

549,963 

123,218 

186,296 

111,170 

145,359 

472,832 

62,412 

33,410 

43,622 

-

34,626 

-

73,857 

86,416 

-

211,072 

100,622 

91,590 
16,646 

$ 4,417,436 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$ 83,145 

2,287,422 

512,490 

186,296 

111,170 

879,511 

1,966,616 

259,583 

138,960 

181,435 

288,299 

144,018 

60,790 

307,190 

359,424 

458,633 

1,314,365 

418,502 

380,944 
532,616 

$ 25,123,611 

See notes to financial statements
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Classical Charter Schools 

Statement of Functional Expenses 
Year Ended June 30, 2018 

2018 
Program Services 

No. of Regular Special Management 
Positions Education Education Total and General Total 

Personnel Services Costs 
Administrative staff personnel 52 $ 1,128,369 $ - $ 1,128,369 $ 2,608,366 $ 3,736,735 
Instructional personnel 154 7,134,655 749,103 7,883,758 - 7,883,758 
Non-instructional personnel 18 - - - 257,300 257,300 

Total Salaries and Staff 224 8,263,024 749,103 9,012,127 2,865,666 11,877,793 

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes 1,616,788 146,456 1,763,244 559,329 2,322,573 
Retirement 273,541 24,832 298,373 94,234 392,607 
Legal services - - - 58,690 58,690 
Accounting/Audit services - - - 80,251 80,251 
Other purchased/Professional/Consulting services 442,805 - 442,805 61,425 504,230 
Building and land rent/Lease 830,841 56,050 886,891 304,088 1,190,979 
Repairs and maintenance 112,114 9,661 121,775 42,130 163,905 
Insurance 88,996 8,067 97,063 32,849 129,912 
Utilities 34,828 2,156 36,984 12,110 49,094 
Supplies/Materials 198,397 22,979 221,376 - 221,376 
Equipment/Furnishing 113,040 9,237 122,277 40,027 162,304 
Staff development 47,091 - 47,091 - 47,091 
Marketing/Recruitment 124,290 11,597 135,887 45,094 180,981 
Technology 126,698 11,508 138,206 43,304 181,510 
Food services 307,006 35,557 342,563 - 342,563 
Student services 784,645 81,831 866,476 135,795 1,002,271 
Office expense 202,830 18,393 221,223 72,137 293,360 
Depreciation and amortization 186,479 17,113 203,592 63,957 267,549 
Other 398,484 8,362 406,846 37,234 444,080 

Total Expenses $ 14,151,897 $ 1,212,902 $ 15,364,799 $ 4,548,320 $ 19,913,119 

See notes to financial statements
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Classical Charter Schools 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Year Ended June 30, 

2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Change in net assets $ 1,324,290 $ 2,210,841 

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 

to net cash from operating activities 

Depreciation and amortization 380,944 267,549 

Net realized and unrealized loss (gain) on investments (61,469) 3,701 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 54,290 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Grants and contracts receivable 491,965 (747,100) 

Due from related party (7,493) -

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 276,202 (98,109) 

Security deposits (798,562) (58,400) 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 47,396 266,296 

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes 159,008 129,585 

Refundable advances 43,781 (405,999) 

Net Cash from Operating Activities 1,856,062 1,622,654 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Purchases of investments (4,205,389) (3,652,264) 

Proceeds from sale of investments 2,340,446 3,602,022 

Purchases of property and equipment (1,241,302) (570,989) 

Restricted cash (56,022) (996)

 Net Cash from Investing Activities (3,162,267) (622,227)

 Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,306,205) 1,000,427 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Beginning of year 2,055,672 1,055,245 

End of year $ 749,467 $ 2,055,672 

See notes to financial statements
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

1. Organization and Tax Status 

Classical Charter Schools (the “School”) is a New York State, not-for-profit educational 
corporation that operates charter schools in the borough of Bronx, New York. The School's 
mission is to provide its students with a solid foundation for academic success, through 
achievement that exceeds citywide averages and meets or exceeds New York State 
standards and national norms in all curriculum areas tested, especially in mathematics and 
language arts. The accompanying financial statements include the following charter schools 
collectively forming the School: 

South Bronx Classical Charter School I (“SBC I”) – SBC I was granted a provisional 
charter on December 7, 2005, valid for a term of five years and renewable upon 
expiration by the Board of Regents of the New York State Education Department. SBC I 
obtained multiple renewals to its charter expiring on June 30, 2024.    

South Bronx Classical Charter School II (“SBC II”) – SBC II was granted a provisional 
charter on June 19, 2012, valid for a term of five years and renewable upon expiration by 
the Board of Regents of the New York State Education Department. SBC II obtained 
renewals to its charter expiring on June 30, 2023. 

South Bronx Classical Charter School III (“SBC III”) – SBC III was granted a provisional 
charter on November 18, 2014, valid for a term of five years and renewable upon 
expiration by the Board of Regents of the New York State Education Department. SBC 
III will seek to obtain a renewal to its charter expiring on June 30, 2020. 

South Bronx Classical Charter School IV (“SBC IV”) – SBC IV was granted a provisional 
charter on November 8, 2016, valid for a term of five years and renewable upon 
expiration by the Board of Regents of the New York State Education Department. SBC 
IV will seek to obtain a renewal to its charter expiring on June 30, 2022. 

On April 19, 2016, the New York State Education Department Board of Regents 
approved the plan of merger of South Bronx Classical Charter School I, II, and III. 
Effective July 1, 2016, South Bronx Classical Charter School I, II, and III merged into a 
single legal entity under South Bronx Classical Charter School II, which serves as the 
sole surviving education corporation. South Bronx Classical Charter School II changed 
its name to Classical Charter Schools and all other Schools ceased to exist as legal 
entities. SBC IV was added to the School after the merger and opened in the fall of 
2017. 

The School provided education to approximately 1270 students in grades kindergarten 
through eighth grade during the 2018-2019 academic year. 

SBC I shares space with a New York City public school beginning in August 2006. SBC I 
occupies approximately 28,500 square feet on two floors of a public school building. SBC I 
also shares the gymnasium, auditorium, and cafeteria with the public school which 
approximate 5,000 square feet. SBC I is not responsible for rent, utilities, custodial services, 
maintenance, and school safety services other than security related to the SBC I’s programs 
that take place outside the district’s school day. 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

1. Organization and Tax Status (continued) 

SBC II shares space with a New York City public school beginning in August 2013.  SBC II 
occupies approximately 10,000 square feet on one floor of a public school building.  SBC II 
also shares the gymnasium, auditorium, and cafeteria with the public school which 
approximate 6,726 square feet. SBC II is not responsible for rent, utilities, custodial services, 
maintenance, and school safety services other than security related to SBC II’s programs 
that take place outside the district’s school day. 

The school was unable to determine a value for the contributed space and related services 
and did not record any value for use of donated facilities or services. 

The New York City Department of Education provides free lunches directly to some of the 
School’s students. Such costs are not included in these financial statements. The School 
covers the unreimbursed cost of lunches for children not entitled to the free lunches. The 
Office of Pupil Transportation provides free transportation to the majority of the students 
during the district’s School days. 

Except for taxes that may be due for unrelated business income, the School is exempt from 
federal income taxes pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and from 
state and local income taxes under comparable laws. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), which requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

On July 1, 2018, the School adopted new guidance regarding the Presentation of Financial 
Statements for Not-for Profit Entities. This guidance requires the School to collapse the three-
category (unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted) classification of net 
assets into two categories: with donor restrictions and without donor restrictions. In addition, the 
new guidance requires the School to make certain expanded disclosures relating to the liquidity 
of financial assets, and expenses both by their natural and functional classification in one 
location in the financial statements. As a result of implementing this standard, prior year 
amounts for unrestricted net assets were reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions. 

9 



Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Net Assets Presentation 

Resources for various purposes are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into net 
asset categories established according to nature and purpose as follows: 

Net assets without donor restrictions - consist of resources available for the general 
support of the School’s operations. Net assets without donor restrictions may be used at 
the discretion of the School’s management and/or the Board of Trustees. The Board of 
Trustees has designated $300,000 as a facility fund to be available to meet future needs of 
the School. 

Net assets with donor restrictions - represents amounts restricted by donors for specific 
activities of the School or to be used at a future date. The School records contributions as 
net assets with donor restrictions if they are received with donor stipulations that limit their 
use either through purpose or time restrictions. When a donor restriction expires, that is, 
when a time restriction ends or a purpose restriction is fulfilled, net assets with donor 
restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 
statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. The School had no net 
assets with donor restrictions at June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The School considers all highly liquid financial instruments purchased with a maturity of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Fair Value Measurements 

The School follows U.S. GAAP guidance on fair value measurements which defines fair 
value and establishes a fair value hierarchy organized into three levels based upon the input 
assumptions used in pricing assets. Level 1 inputs have the highest reliability and are 
related to assets with unadjusted quoted prices in active markets. Level 2 inputs relate to 
assets with other than quoted prices in active markets which may include quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities or other inputs which can be corroborated by observable market 
data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs and are used to the extent that observable 
inputs do not exist. 

Investment Valuation 

Investments are stated at fair value. 

Investment Income Recognition 

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade date basis. Interest income is 
recorded on the accrual basis and dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Realized 
and unrealized gains and losses are included in the determination of change in net assets. 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Restricted Cash 

Under the provisions of its charter, the School established an escrow account to pay for 
legal and audit expenses that would be associated with a dissolution, should it occur. 

Property and Equipment 

The School follows the practice of capitalizing all expenditures for property and equipment 
with costs in excess of $5,000 and a useful life in excess of one year. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease, inclusive of all 
renewal periods, which are reasonably assured, or the estimated useful life of the asset 
which is five years. Purchased property and equipment are recorded at cost at the date of 
acquisition. Minor costs of maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. All property 
and equipment purchased with government funding is capitalized, unless the government 
agency retains legal title to such assets, in which case it is expensed as incurred.  

Furniture and fixtures 7 years 
Computers and equipment 3, 5, and 7 years 
Website 3 years 

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment if the use of the asset significantly 
changes or another indicator of possible impairment is identified. If the carrying amount for 
the asset is not recoverable, the asset is written down to its fair value. There were no asset 
impairments for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Refundable Advances 

The School records certain government operating revenue as refundable advances until 
related services are performed, at which time they are recognized as revenue. 

Revenue and Support 

Revenue from the state and local governments resulting from the School’s charter status 
and based on the number of students enrolled is recorded when services are performed in 
accordance with the charter agreement. Federal and other state and local funds are 
recorded when expenditures are incurred and billable to the government agency. 

Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to the School that is, 
in substance, unconditional. Grants and other contributions of cash are reported as 
temporarily restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations. Restricted 
contributions and grants that are made to support the School’s current year activities are 
recorded as unrestricted revenue. Contributions of assets other than cash are recorded at 
their estimated fair value at the date of donation. 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Functional Expense Allocation 

The majority of expenses can generally be directly identified with the program or supporting 
service to which they relate and are charged accordingly. Other expenses by function have 
been allocated among program and supporting services classifications on the basis of 
periodic time and expense studies and other basis as determined by management of the 
School to be appropriate. 

Marketing and Recruitment 

Marketing and recruitment costs are expensed as incurred. Marketing and recruitment costs for 
the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 amounted to $307,190 and $180,981. 

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes 

The School recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more 
likely than not to be sustained. Management has determined that the School had no 
uncertain tax positions that would require financial statement recognition or disclosure. The 
School is no longer subject to examinations by the applicable taxing jurisdictions for years 
prior to June 30, 2016. 

Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation 

Certain 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2019 financial statement 
presentation. 

Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management 

Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the 
financial statements through the date that the financial statements were available to be 
issued, which date is October 18, 2019. 

3. Grants and Contracts Receivable 

Grants and contracts receivable consists of federal, state, and city entitlements and grants. 
The School expects to collect these receivables within one year. 

4. Conditional Promise to Give 

On January 17, 2018, the School received a $2,250,000 grant from one foundation for 
project specific support and general development of the School. The grant contains various 
grantor conditions related to specific milestones and time periods through November 30, 
2020. Since this grant represents a conditional promise to give, it is not recognized as 
grants and contributions revenue until grantor conditions are met. For the years ended June 
30, 2019 and 2018, revenue recognized under this grant totaled $750,000 and $375,000. At 
June 30, 2019, the remaining balance of this conditional promise to give was $1,125,000. 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

5. Related Party Transactions (not disclosed elsewhere) 

The School is an affiliate of Friends of Classical Charter Schools, Inc. (“FOCCS”), a New 
York State not-for-profit corporation, by common management. FOCCS’s purpose is to 
support the operation of the School by providing assistance with the School’s real estate 
and facilities-related needs, and by raising funds and resources that will enable FOCCS to 
provide support to the School to enhance the experience of the School’s students. 

On April 18, 2019, the SBC III lease with 3450 Third Avenue Realty LLC (“Landlord”) was 
transferred to FOCCS and the School entered into an Interim sublease agreement with 
FOCCS that left the obligation to pay the rent to the landlord with the School through June 
30, 2019. 

On June 19, 2019, the School entered into a sub-lease agreement with FOCCS with the 
term commencing on July 1, 2019 and expiring on June 30, 2049. (See Note 12) 

At June 30, 2019, the School had a receivable due from FOCCS of $7,493 for expenses 
paid on FOCCS’s behalf. 

6. Investments 

Major categories of investments categorized by the fair value hierarchy are as follows at 
June 30: 

2019 2018 
Level 1 Total Level 1 Total 

Corporate bonds 
US Treasury bills 

Cash equivalents 

$ 3,996,156 
-

$ 3,996,156 

$ 3,996,156 
-

3,996,156 

270,702 

$ 4,266,858 

$ 

$ 

-
2,340,446 

2,340,446 

$ 

$ 

-
2,340,446 

2,340,446 

-

2,340,446 

The composition of investment return as reported in the statements of activities for the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018 
Interest and Dividends from investments $ 167,618 $ 22,649 
Interest from other bank accounts 1,203 11,856 
Net realized and unrealized (loss) gain on investments 61,469 (3,701) 
Investment fees (7,372) -

$ 222,918 $ 30,804 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

7. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following at June 30: 

2019 2018 
Computers and equipment $ 1,240,645 $ 980,594 
Furniture and fixtures 344,598 472,770 
Leasehold improvements 2,276,716 2,029,216 
Construction in progress 509,841 -

Website 49,875 49,875 
4,421,675 3,532,455 

Accumulated depreciation

 and amortization (1,321,977) (1,293,115) 

$ 3,099,698 $ 2,239,340 

Construction in progress at June 30, 2019 consisted of construction related to plumbing and 
kitchen improvements at SBC I and bathroom renovation and other leasehold improvements 
at SBC II. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the School disposed of fully depreciated 
property and equipment totaling $352,082. 

8.   Liquidity and Availability of Financial Assets 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions 
limiting their use within one year of the statement of financial position date, are comprised of 
the following at June 30, 2019: 

Financial assets at year end: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 749,467 
Grants and contracts receivable 1,236,192 
Investments 4,266,858 
Due from related party 7,493 

Total Financial Assets 6,260,010 

Less amounts unavailable for general expenditure: 
Board designated net assets 300,000 

$ 5,960,010 

As part of the School’s liquidity management plan, the status of grants and contracts receivable 
is monitored regularly and any excess cash is invested in highly liquid securities and corporate 
bonds. The Board of Trustees has designated net assets without donor restrictions that could 
be drawn upon through board resolution and can be made available for current operations. 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

9. Employee Benefit Plan 

The School maintains a pension plan qualified under Internal Revenue Code 401(k) for the 
benefit of its eligible employees. Under the plan, the School provided matching contributions 
of 5% to the plan. The amount charged for matching contributions to this plan amounted to 
$512,490 and $392,607 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

10. Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to concentrations of credit and 
market risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents on deposit with financial 
institutions, which from time to time may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(“FDIC”) limit. The School does not believe that a significant risk of loss due to the failure of 
a financial institution presently exists. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, approximately 
$473,000 and $2,040,000 of cash was maintained with an institution in excess of FDIC 
limits. 

11. Concentration of Revenue and Support 

The School receives a substantial portion of its revenue and support from the New York City 
Department of Education. For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the School 
received approximately 86% and 82% of its total revenue and support from the New York 
City Department of Education. If the charter School laws were modified, reducing or 
eliminating these revenues, the School’s finances could be materially adversely affected. 

12. Commitments 

On November 6, 2015, SBC III entered into a lease agreement with 3450 Third Avenue 
Realty, LLC for the rental of permanent office/classroom space located in the Bronx, New 
York for SBC III and SBC IV. The lease term commenced on June 1, 2018 and expires on 
May 31, 2037, with two options to extend the lease for an additional five years each.  Under 
the terms of the lease, the School paid a security deposit in the amount of $317,193.  On 
April 18, 2019, this lease was amended and transferred to FOCCS, a related party (see note 
5). 

On June 19, 2019, the School entered into a sub-lease agreement with FOCCS for the 
rental of office/classroom space located at 3458 Third Avenue, Bronx, New York. The lease 
term commenced on July 1, 2019 and will expire on June 30, 2049. The School will 
recognize rent expense on a straight line basis starting with the year ending June 30, 2020.  
FOCCS is responsible for maintenance and repairs to the premises. 

The School entered into a license agreement with Public Prep Academies to license certain 
classrooms, common rooms, and the cafeteria located in the Bronx, New York.  This 
agreement commenced on January 1, 2019 and will expire on June 30, 2020. Under the 
agreement, the School also pays fees related to additional services on a monthly basis. The 
School contributed $50,000 towards improvements and repairs to the premises and paid a 
security deposit of $33,332. 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 

12. Commitments (continued) 

On July 18, 2018, the School entered into a sub-lease agreement with Civic Concourse 
Village Corporation for the rental of office/classroom space located in the Bronx, New York 
and expiring on June 30, 2058. This location will be the home of SBC IV and the middle 
school of SBC II.  Under the terms of the lease, the School paid a security deposit in the 
amount of $979,000. Construction has commenced and is expected to be completed by 
August 2020 at which time the School will begin payments under the lease.  The school is 
also obligated to make an annual contribution to sublandlord of $30,000, increasing 3% 
annually, until expiration of lease. The contributions will be placed in a capital building 
reserve account held by sublandlord and will be drawn down for capital improvements. The 
School will recognize rent expense on a straight line basis starting with the year ending June 
30, 2021.  

Building and land rent/lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was 
$1,966,616 and $1,190,979. 

The future minimum lease payments under the lease agreements are as follows for the 
years ending June 30: 

2020 $ 2,385,050 
2021 4,421,397 
2022 4,533,027 
2023 4,647,585 
2024 4,765,151 
Thereafter 204,658,597 

$ 225,410,807 

13. Contingency 

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by the funding sources.  Such audits 
might result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement.  Management is of the 
opinion that such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the 
accompanying financial statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the 
accompanying financial statements for such potential claims. 

* * * * * 
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Classical Charter Schools 

Schedule of Activities by School 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

REVENUE AND SUPPORT 
State and local per pupil operating revenue 
State and local per pupil facilities funding 
Federal grants 
Federal E-Rate and IDEA 
State and city grants 
Contributions and grants 
Investment income 
Other income 

Total revenue and support 

SBC I SBC II 

$ 7,613,079 $ 5,555,567 
- 73,694 

353,698 275,267 
113,971 49,853 
35,781 22,026 

478,300 331,578 
80,611 56,061 
6,366 3,414 

8,681,806 6,367,460 

$ 

SBC III 

5,028,500 
1,177,021 

634,312 
42,119 
16,672 

318,825 
53,904 
4,488 

7,275,841 

$ 

SBC IV 

2,499,756 
826,637 
543,394 
26,799 

-

191,295 
32,342 
2,571 

4,122,794 

Total 

$ 20,696,902 
2,077,352 
1,806,671 

232,742 
74,479 

1,319,998 
222,918 
16,839 

26,447,901 

EXPENSES 
Program Services 

Regular education 
Special education 

Total Program Services 
Supporting Services 

Management and general 
Fundraising 

Total Expenses 

6,550,282 
566,573 

7,116,855 

1,369,717 
31,372 

8,517,944 

4,746,760 
411,999 

5,158,759 

1,072,463 
23,221 

6,254,443 

5,004,263 
433,032 

5,437,295 

1,208,421 
18,820 

6,664,536 

2,677,432 
232,689 

2,910,121 

766,835 
9,732 

3,686,688 

18,978,737 
1,644,293 

20,623,030 

4,417,436

83,145 

25,123,611 

Change in Net Assets 163,862 113,017 611,305 436,106 1,324,290 

NET ASSETS 
Beginning of year 6,563,754 759,656 519,300 448,299 8,291,009 

End of year $ 6,727,616 $ 872,673 $ 1,130,605 $ 884,405 $ 9,615,299 

See independent auditors' report
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Classical Charter Schools 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Federal Grantor/Pass-through Grantor 

Program or Cluster Title 

Federal CFDA 

Number 

Pass-through 

Entity Identifying 

Number 

Provided to 

Subrecipients 

Total 

Federal 

Expenditures 

U.S. Department of Education 
Pass-through New York State 

Education Department: 

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 

84.010 

84.010 

84.010 
84.010 

021-17-4361 

021-17-5030 

021-17-5185 
021-17-5335 

$ -

-

-

-

-

$ 291,572 

229,545 

197,899 
101,494 

820,510 

Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants

 (Formerly Improving Teacher Quality State Grants) 
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants

 (Formerly Improving Teacher Quality State Grants) 
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants

 (Formerly Improving Teacher Quality State Grants) 
Supporting Effective Instruction State Grants
 (Formerly Improving Teacher Quality State Grants) 

84.367 

84.367 

84.367 

84.367 

0147-17-4361 

0147-17-5030 

0147-17-5185 

0147-17-5335 

-

-

-

-

-

40,898 

30,627 

31,210 

16,231 

118,966 

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 
Student Support and Academic Enrichment Program 

84.424 

84.424 

84.424 
84.424 

0204-19-4361 

0204-19-5030 

0204-19-5185 
0204-19-5335 

-

-

-

-

-

21,228 

15,095 

10,000 
10,000 

56,323 

Charter Schools 

Total U.S. Department of Education 

84.282 0089-18-01 C402982 - 415,669 

1,411,468 

U.S. Department of Agriculture 

Pass-through New York State Education Department

 Child Nutrition Cluster: 
School Breakfast Program 
National School Lunch Program 

Total Child Nutrition Cluster 

10.553 
10.555 

-

-

53,972 
329,345 

383,317 

Child and Adult Care Food Program 10.558 - 11,886 

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture - 395,203 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ - $ 1,806,671 

See independent auditors' report and notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards
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Classical Charter Schools 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

1. Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the “Schedule”) includes the 
federal award activity of the School under programs of the federal government for the year 
ended June 30, 2019.  The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform 
Guidance”). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the 
School, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net 
assets, or cash flows of the School. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.  

3. Indirect Cost Rate 

The School has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed 
under the Uniform Guidance. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 

In Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of Classical Charter Schools (the “School”), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities, functional 
expense and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 18, 2019. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
School’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

PKF O’CONNOR DAVIES, LLP 
500 Mamaroneck Avenue, Harrison, NY 10528 I Tel: 914.381.8900 I Fax: 914.381.8910 I www.pkfod.com 

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP is a member firm of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent firms and does not accept any 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms. 



 

Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 
Page 2 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the School’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

Harrison, New York 
October 18, 2019 



 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control
Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Classical Charter Schools’ (the “School”) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of the School’s major federal programs for the year ended 
June 30, 2019. The School’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, the terms and 
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the School’s major federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We 
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and 
the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(“Uniform Guidance”). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about 
the School’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each 
major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
School’s compliance. 

PKF O’CONNOR DAVIES, LLP 
500 Mamaroneck Avenue, Harrison, NY 10528 I Tel: 914.381.8900 I Fax: 914.381.8910 I www.pkfod.com 

PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP is a member firm of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent firms and does not accept any 
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms. 



 

Board of Trustees 
Classical Charter Schools 
Page 2 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the School complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the School is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In 
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the School’s internal control 
over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on 
each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the School’s internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

Harrison, New York 
October 18, 2019 



             
             
             

             
             

               

                

 

Classical Charter Schools 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Section I - Summary of Auditors’ Results 

Financial Statements 
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the 

financial statements audited were prepared in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP: Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 
Material weakness (es) identified? 
Significant deficiency (ies) identified? 

Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted? 

yes 
yes 
yes 

X 
X 
X 

no 
none reported 
no 

Federal Awards 
Internal control over major federal programs: 

Material weakness(es) identified? 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? 

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance 
for major federal programs: 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? 

yes 
yes 

Unmodified 

yes 

X 
X 

X 

no 
none reported 

no 

Identification of major federal programs: 

CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

84.010 Title I Grants to Local Educational 
Agencies 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type 
A and type B programs: $750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes no 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings 

During our audit, we noted no material findings for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

During our audit, we noted no instances of noncompliance and none of the costs reported in the 
federal financially assisted programs are questioned or recommended to be disallowed. 

Section IV - Prior Years Findings 

There were no prior year audit findings. 
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South Bronx Classical Charter School IV 
Statement of Financial Position 

as of June 30 

2019 2018 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Grants and contracts receivable 
Accounts receivables 
Prepaid Expenses 
Contributions and other receivables 

Other current assets 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS - -

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Property, Building and Equipment, net 
Restricted Cash 
Security Deposits 

Other Non-Current Assets 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
 

TOTAL ASSETS 

-
-

-

-
-

-

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued payroll, payroll taxes and benefits 
Current Portion of Loan Payable 
Due to Related Parties 
Refundable Advances 
Deferred Revenue 

Other Current Liabilities 

TOTAL CURRENT 
 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Loan Payable; Due in More than One Year 
Deferred Rent 
Due to Related Party 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 

TOTAL LONG-TERM 
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

$ 

-

-
-
-
-
-

-

$ 

-

-
-
-
-
-

-



 

 
 

   

       

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 
Temporarily restricted 

Permanently restricted - -
TOTAL NET ASSETS - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS - -



         
   

     

 
        
       
      

 
   
  
   
   

 
 
 

 
  

  

 

       

     
   

  
 

 
   

       

               
 

     

         
   

South Bronx Classical Charter School IV 
Statement of Activities 

as of June 30 

Unrestricted 

2019 
Temporarily 
Restricted 

Total 
2018 

Total 

OPERATING REVENUE 
State and Local Per Pupil Revenue - Reg. Ed 
State and Local Per Pupil Revenue - SPED 
State and Local Per Pupil Facilities Revenue 
Federal Grants 
State and City Grants 
Other Operating Income 

Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 

$ 2,419,109 
80,647 

826,637 
543,394 

-
26,799 

-
3,896,586 

$ -
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 2,419,109 
80,647 

826,637 
543,394 

-
26,799 

-
3,896,586 

$ 1,813,144 
62,330 

-
358,937 
296,535 

10,769 

-
2,541,715 

EXPENSES 
Program Services 

Regular Education 
Special Education 

Other Programs 

Total Program Services 
Management and general 
Fundraising 

TOTAL EXPENSES 

$ 2,677,432 
232,689 

-
2,910,121 

766,835 

9,732 

3,686,688 

$ -
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 2,677,432 
232,689 

-
2,910,121 

766,835 

9,732 

3,686,688 

$ 1,527,994 
146,261 

-
1,674,255 

713,213 

-
2,387,468 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM OPERATIONS 209,898 - 209,898 154,247 

SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 
Interest and Other Income 
Contributions and Grants 
Fundraising Support 
Investments 
Donated Services 

Other Support and Revenue 

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 

$ -
191,295 

-
32,342 

-
2,571 

226,208 

$ -
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ -
191,295 

-
32,342 

-
2,571 

226,208 

$ 3 
325,000 

-
-
-

1,480 

326,483 

Net Assets Released from Restrictions / Loss on Disposal 
  

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 

$ -

436,106 

$ -

-

$ -

436,106 

$ -

480,730 

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 

PRIOR YEAR/PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 

$ 448,299 

-
$ -

-
$ 448,299 

-
$ (21,662) 

-



         NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR $ 884,405 $ - $ 884,405 $ 459,068 



         
     

     

       
    

    
 

   

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

   
 

 
 

         

       
  

         

       
    

         

             
    

             

South Bronx Classical Charter School IV 
Statement of Cash Flows 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in net assets 
Revenues from School Districts 
Accounts Receivable 
Due from School Districts 
Depreciation 
Grants Receivable 
Due from NYS 
Grant revenues 
Prepaid Expenses 
Accounts Payable 
Accrued Expenses 
Accrued Liabilities 
Contributions and fund-raising activities 
Miscellaneous sources 
Deferred Revenue 
Interest payments 
Other 
Other 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of equipment 
Other 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Principal payments on long-term debt 
Other 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
Cash at beginning of year 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 

as of June 30 

2019 2018 

$ - $ -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

$ - $ -

$ $ 
- -
- -

$ - $ -

$ $ 
- -
- -

$ - $ -

$ - $ -
- -

$ - $ -



         
     

     

   
 

 
         

  
 

 
   

    

  
 

   
    

 
     
  

  
  

 
   

  
 

 

 

South Bronx Classical Charter School IV 
Statement of Functional Expenses 

as of June 30 

2019 

No. of 
Positions 

Regular 
Education 

Program Services 
Special Other 

Education Education 
Total 

Supporting Services 

Fundraising Management 
and General 

Total 

Personnel Services Costs 
Administrative Staff Personnel 
Instructional Personnel 
Non-Instructional Personnel 

Total Salaries and Staff 
Fringe Benefits & Payroll Taxes 
Retirement 
Management Company Fees 
Legal Service 
Accounting / Audit Services 

Other Purchased / Professional / 
Consulting Services 
Building and Land Rent / Lease 
Repairs & Maintenance 
Insurance 
Utilities 
Supplies / Materials 
Equipment / Furnishings 
Staff Development 
Marketing / Recruitment 
Technology 
Food Service 
Student Services 
Office Expense 
Depreciation 

OTHER 

Total Expenses 

58.00 
170.00 

19.00 
247.00 

$ 
432,083 
845,596 

24,072 
1,301,751 

182,273 
43,601 

-
-
-

135,526 

453,528 
47,422 
14,640 
62,591 
56,622 
19,290 

8,125 
28,935 
34,055 

146,814 
47,073 
44,969 
27,508 

22,708 

$ 2,677,432 

$ 
41,047 
80,330 

2,287 
123,664 

14,854 
3,553 

-
-
-
-

36,960 
3,865 
1,193 
5,101 
7,208 
1,572 

-
2,358 
2,775 

18,690 
4,275 
3,665 
2,242 

714 

$ 232,689 

$ 

$ 

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 

$ 

473,130 
925,926 

26,359 
1,425,415 

197,127 
47,154 

-
-
-

135,526 

490,488 
51,287 
15,833 
67,692 
63,830 
20,862 

8,125 
31,293 
36,830 

165,504 
51,348 
48,634 
29,750 

23,422 

2,910,121 

$ 
3,230 
6,322 

180 
9,732 

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 9,732 

$ 
80,591 

157,718 
4,490 

242,799 
62,397 
14,926 

-
133,493 

24,676 

21,804 

155,256 
16,234 

5,011 
21,427 

-
6,603 

-
9,905 

11,658 
-

12,833 
15,394 

9,417 

3,001 

$ 766,835 

$ 

$ 

83,821 
164,040 

4,670 
252,531 

62,397 
14,926 

-
133,493 

24,676 

21,804 

155,256 
16,234 

5,011 
21,427 

-
6,603 

-
9,905 

11,658 
-

12,833 
15,394 

9,417 

3,001 

776,567 



  

- -

2018

 Total 

$ $ 
556,951 517,123 

1,089,966 735,841 
31,028 20,715 

1,677,946 1,273,679 
259,525 236,023 

62,080 36,235 

133,493 40,751 
24,676 26,563 

157,330 84,748 

645,744 194,374 
67,521 45,519 
20,845 32,591 
89,119 1,161 
63,830 41,436 
27,466 20,737 

8,125 6,175 
41,198 39,295 
48,488 13,529 

165,504 93,961 
64,181 23,195 
64,028 48,862 
39,167 22,182 

26,423 106,452 

$ 3,686,688 $ 2,387,468 



    
          

  

     

           

     
     
                

  

            
          

   

               
            

           
            

New York State Education Department 
Request for Proposals to Establish Charter Schools Authorized by the 

Board of Regents 

2019-20 Budget & Cash Flow Template 

General Instructions and Notes for New Application Budgets and Cash Flows Templates 

1 Complete ALL SIX columns in BLUE 
2 Enter information into the GRAY cells 

3 
Cells containing RED triangles in the upper right corner in columns B through G contain guidance on 
that particular item 

4 

School district per-pupil tuition information is located on the State Aid website at 
https://stateaid.nysed.gov/charter/. Rows may be inserted in the worksheet to accomodate 
additional districts if necessary. 

5 

The Assumptions column should be completed for all revenue and expense items unless the item is 
self-explanatory. Where applicable, please reference the page number or section in the application 
narrative that indicates the assumption being made. For instance, student enrollment would 
reference the applicable page number in Section I, C of the application narrative. 



    
   

      
                        

 

 
 

 
  

   

  

 

   
     

   
    
    
    
    

  

  
    

   
  

 
   

    

      

  
    

   
   

 
     

      
    

 
  

      

  

     
 

 
   

    
   

South Bronx Classical Charter School 
PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020
Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 

Total Revenue 
Total Expenses 

Net Income 
Actual Student Enrollment 

Total Paid Student Enrollment 

REGULAR SPECIAL 
EDUCATION EDUCATION 

8,754,758 276,225 
8,253,705 132,651 

501,053 143,574 
- -

478 -

OTHER 

-
-
-

MANAGEMENT & FUNDRAISING GENERAL 
- -
- -
- -

TOTAL 

9,030,983 
8,274,867 

756,116 
-

478 

PROGRAM SERVICES 

REGULAR SPECIAL 
EDUCATION EDUCATION OTHER 

SUPPORT SERVICES 

MANAGEMENT & 
FUNDRAISING GENERAL TOTAL 

REVENUE 
REVENUES FROM STATE SOURCES 

Per Pupil Revenue CY Per Pupil Rate 

District of Location $16,307.00 

School District 2 (Enter Name) 
School District 3 (Enter Name) 
School District 4 (Enter Name) 
School District 5 (Enter Name) 

7,794,746 -
- -
- -
- -
- -

7,794,746 

-
-
-
-
-

- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

7,794,746 

-
-
-
-

7,794,746 

Special Education Revenue 

Grants 

Stimulus 

Other 
Other State Revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM STATE SOURCES 

REVENUE FROM FEDERAL FUNDING 

IDEA Special Needs 

Title I 
Title Funding - Other 
School Food Service (Free Lunch) 
Grants 

Charter School Program (CSP) Planning & Implementation 

Other 
Other Federal Revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM FEDERAL SOURCES 

LOCAL and OTHER REVENUE 

Contributions and Donations, Fundraising 

Erate Reimbursement 
Interest Income, Earnings on Investments, 
NYC-DYCD (Department of Youth and Community Developmt.) 
Food Service (Income from meals) 
Text Book 

Other Local Revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM LOCAL and OTHER SOURCES 

TOTAL REVENUE 

231,620 

- -
- -

220,841 -
8,015,587 231,620 

44,605 

385,512 -
67,950 -

- -

- -
- -
- -

453,462 44,605 

187,500 -
39,686 -
42,995 -

- -
- -
- -

15,528 -
285,709 

8,754,758 276,225 

-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

- -

- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -

- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

231,620 

-
-

220,841 

8,247,207 

44,605 

385,512 

67,950 

-

-
-
-

498,067 

187,500 

39,686 

42,995 

-
-
-

15,528 

285,709 

9,030,983 

EXPENSES 

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF PERSONNEL COSTS No. of Positions 

Executive Management 1.25 317,000 - - - - 317,000 

Instructional Management 4.25 701,857 - - - - 701,857 

Deans, Directors & Coordinators 3.00 393,000 - - - - 393,000 

CFO / Director of Finance - - - - - -
Operation / Business Manager 7.00 316,920 - - - - 316,920 



 
  

  
  
  
 

 
 

  

 

  

 

   

   
 
   

  
    

   

 
   

  
 

    
 
  

    
     

  

 
 

     
    

  

    
   

      
                        

 

 
 

 
  

   

  

 

South Bronx Classical Charter School 

- - - - -
- - - - 32,643 

2,651 - - - 2,651 

- - - - 63,345 

Administrative Staff 4.00 239,500 - - - - 239,500 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF 20 1,968,277 1,968,277 

INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL COSTS 

Teachers - Regular 32.00 2,590,000 - - - - 2,590,000 

Teachers - SPED 2.00 - 130,000 - - 130,000 

Substitute Teachers - - - - - - -
Teaching Assistants 3.00 205,000 - - - - 205,000 

Specialty Teachers - - - - - - -
Aides - - - - - - -
Therapists & Counselors 5.00 349,500 - - - - 349,500 

Other - - - - - - -
TOTAL INSTRUCTIONAL 42 3,144,500 130,000 3,274,500 

NON-INSTRUCTIONAL PERSONNEL COSTS 

Nurse - - - - - - -
Librarian - - - - - - -
Custodian - - - - - - -
Security - - - - - - -
Other - 104,124 - - - - 104,124 

TOTAL NON-INSTRUCTIONAL 104,124 104,124 

SUBTOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE COSTS 62 5,216,901 130,000 5,346,901 

PAYROLL TAXES AND BENEFITS 

Payroll Taxes 534,690 - - - - 534,690 

Fringe / Employee Benefits 402,549 - - - - 402,549 

Retirement / Pension 181,615 - - - - 181,615 

TOTAL PAYROLL TAXES AND BENEFITS 1,118,854 1,118,854 

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICE COSTS 6,335,755 130,000 6,465,755 

CONTRACTED SERVICES 

Accounting / Audit 20,000 - - - - 20,000 

Legal 69,277 - - - - 69,277 

Management Company Fee - - - - - -
Nurse Services - - - - - -
Food Service / School Lunch - - - - - -
Payroll Services - - - - - -
Special Ed Services - - - - - -
Titlement Services (i e. Title I) - - - - - -
Other Purchased / Professional / Consulting 310,309 - - - - 310,309 

TOTAL CONTRACTED SERVICES 399,586 399,586 

SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

Board Expenses 

Classroom / Teaching Supplies & Materials 32,643 

Special Ed Supplies & Materials 

Textbooks / Workbooks 63,345 

PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 
July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR 

EDUCATION 
SPECIAL 

EDUCATION 
OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

TOTAL 

Total Revenue 8,754,758 276,225 - - - 9,030,983 
Total Expenses 8,253,705 132,651 - - - 8,274,867 

Net Income 501,053 143,574 - - - 756,116 
Actual Student Enrollment - - -

Total Paid Student Enrollment 478 - 478 

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL TOTAL 



   
  
 

   
 

 
   

 
 
 

   
   

 

  

   

     
   

  

    

  
     

 

 

        

   
    
    
    
    

 

  

  

    
   

      
                        

 

 
 

 
  

   

  

 

South Bronx Classical Charter School 

Supplies & Materials other 16,121 - - - - 16,121 

Equipment / Furniture - - - - - -
Telephone - - - - - -
Technology 141,377 - - - - 141,377 

Student Testing & Assessment - - - - - -
Field Trips 11,869 - - - - 11,869 

Transportation (student) - - - - - -
Student Services - other 47,882 - - - - 47,882 

Office Expense 199,120 - - - - 199,120 

Staff Development 377,524 - - - 377,524 

Staff Recruitment 64,405 - - - - 64,405 

Student Recruitment / Marketing - - - - - -
School Meals / Lunch - - - - - -
Travel (Staff) 17,944 - - - - 17,944 

Fundraising - - - - - -
Other 111,489 - - - -

TOTAL SCHOOL OPERATIONS 1,083,719 2,651 974,881 

FACILITY OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 

Insurance 52,584 - - - - 52,584 

Janitorial 6,152 - - - - 6,152 

Building and Land Rent / Lease - - - - - -
Repairs & Maintenance 8,350 - - - - 8,350 

Equipment / Furniture 256,117 - - - - 256,117 

Security - - - - - -
Utilities - - - - - -

TOTAL FACILITY OPERATION & MAINTENANCE 323,203 323,203 

DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION 111,442 - - - - 111,442 

DISSOLUTION ESCROW & RESERVES / CONTIGENCY - - - - - -

TOTAL EXPENSES 8,253,705 132,651 8,274,867 

NET INCOME 501,053 143,574 - - - 756,116 

ENROLLMENT - *School Districts Are Linked To Above Entries* 
REGULAR 

EDUCATION 
SPECIAL 

EDUCATION 
TOTAL 

ENROLLED 

District of Location -
School District 2 (Enter Name) -
School District 3 (Enter Name) -
School District 4 (Enter Name) -
School District 5 (Enter Name) -

TOTAL ENROLLMENT 

REVENUE PER PUPIL - - -

EXPENSES PER PUPIL - - -

PROJECTED BUDGET FOR 2018-2019 
July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020

Please Note  The student enrollment data is entered below in the Enrollment Section beginning in row 155. This will populate the data in row 10. 
REGULAR 

EDUCATION 
SPECIAL 

EDUCATION 
OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL 

TOTAL 

Total Revenue 8,754,758 276,225 - - - 9,030,983 
Total Expenses 8,253,705 132,651 - - - 8,274,867 

Net Income 501,053 143,574 - - - 756,116 
Actual Student Enrollment - - -

Total Paid Student Enrollment 478 - 478 

PROGRAM SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 

REGULAR 
EDUCATION 

SPECIAL 
EDUCATION OTHER FUNDRAISING 

MANAGEMENT & 
GENERAL TOTAL 



 
        

         

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 

List exact titles and staff FTE"s ( Full time eqiuilivalent) 



 
        

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 



 
        

Assumptions 

DESCRIPTION OF ASSUMPTIONS - Please note assumptions when applicable 



 
    

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
      

    
 
 

      
     

 
  

  
 
 
 

    
 

 
     

    
      

 
      

  
  

 
     

   
 
 

  

Disclosure of Financial Interest by a Current or Proposed Board of 
Trustees Member – Board of Regents-Authorized Charter Schools 

Name: 

Kevin 
Murphy__________________________________________________________ 

Name of Charter School Education Corporation (the Charter School Name, 
if the charter school is the only school operated by the education 
corporation): 

CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOLS  

1. List all positions held on the education corporation Board of Trustees 
(“Board”) (e.g. president, treasurer, parent representative). 

2. Are you an employee of any school operated by the education corporation?  
____Yes __XXX__No 

If Yes, for each school, please provide a description of the position(s) you 
hold, your responsibilities, your salary and your start date. 

3. Are you a past, current, or prospective employee of the charter school, 
education corporation, and/or an entity that provides comprehensive 
management services (“CMO”), whether for-profit or not-for-profit, which 
contracts, or may contract, with the charter school or education corporation; 
or do you serve as an employee, officer, or director of, or own a controlling 
interest in, a business or entity that contracts, or does business with, or plans 
to contract or do business with, the charter school, education corporation, 
and/or a CMO, whether for-profit or not-for-profit, including, but not limited to, 
the lease of real or personal property to the said entities? 
____Yes __XXX__No 

If Yes, please provide a description of the position(s) you hold, your 
responsibilities, your salary and your start date. 



  
 

   
  

 
    

     
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

    
 
 
 

 
 

    
   

 
   

  
   

    
  

   
     

    
 
 

 

 

4. Identify each interest/transaction (and provide the requested information) that 
you or any of your immediate family members or any persons who live with 
you in your house have held or engaged in with the charter school(s) 
operated by the education corporation during the time you have served on the 
Board, and in the six-month period prior to such service. If there has been no 
such interest or transaction, write None. Please note that if you answered 
Yes to Questions 2-3 above, you need not disclose again your employment 
status, salary, etc. 

Date(s) Nature of 
financial 

interest/transacti 
on 

Steps taken to 
avoid a conflict 

of interest, 
(e.g., did not 
vote, did not 
participate in 
discussion) 

Name of person 
holding interest or 

engaging in 
transaction and 
relationship to 

you 

NONE 

5. Identify each individual, business, corporation, union association, firm, 
partnership, franchise holding company, joint-stock company, business or real 
estate trust, non-profit organization, or other organization or group of people 
doing business with the school(s) operated by the education corporation and 
in which such entity, during the time of your tenure as a trustee, you and/or 
your immediate family member(s) or person(s) living in your house had a 
financial interest or other relationship. If you are a member, director, officer or 
employee of an organization formally partnered with the school(s) that is/are 
doing business with the school(s) through a management or services 
agreement, please identify only the name of the organization, your position in 
the organization, and the relationship between such organization and the 
school(s). If there was no financial interest, write “None.” 

NONE 



 
 
 
 

        
 

   
 

      
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
          

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

Organization 
conducting 

business with 
the school(s) 

Nature of 
business 
conducte 

d 

Approximat 
e value of 

the 
business 

conducted 

Name of Trustee 
and/or immediate 
family member of 

household holding an 
interest in the 
organization 

conducting business 
with the school(s) and 

the nature of the 
interest 

Steps 
taken to 

avoid 
conflict of 

interest 

NONE 

Kevin Murphy  8/1/19 _____________________________ 
Signature Date 

Please note that this document is considered a public record and, as such, may 
be made available to members of the public upon request under the Freedom of 
Information Law.  Personal contact information provided below will be redacted. 

Business Telephone: 

Business Address: 

E-mail Address: 

Home Telephone: 

Home Address: 

last revised 08/21/2018 



 
    

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

 
      

    
 
 

      
     

 
  

   
 
 
 

    
 

 
      

    
      

 
      

  
  

 
     

   
 
 

  

Disclosure of Financial Interest by a Current or Proposed Board of 
Trustees Member – Board of Regents-Authorized Charter Schools 

Name: 

William 
Higgins________________________________________________________ 

Name of Charter School Education Corporation (the Charter School Name, 
if the charter school is the only school operated by the education 
corporation): 

CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOLS  

1. List all positions held on the education corporation Board of Trustees 
(“Board”) (e.g. president, treasurer, parent representative). 

2. Are you an employee of any school operated by the education corporation?  
____Yes __XXX__No 

If Yes, for each school, please provide a description of the position(s) you 
hold, your responsibilities, your salary and your start date. 

3. Are you a past, current, or prospective employee of the charter school, 
education corporation, and/or an entity that provides comprehensive 
management services (“CMO”), whether for-profit or not-for-profit, which 
contracts, or may contract, with the charter school or education corporation; 
or do you serve as an employee, officer, or director of, or own a controlling 
interest in, a business or entity that contracts, or does business with, or plans 
to contract or do business with, the charter school, education corporation, 
and/or a CMO, whether for-profit or not-for-profit, including, but not limited to, 
the lease of real or personal property to the said entities? 
____Yes __XXX__No 

If Yes, please provide a description of the position(s) you hold, your 
responsibilities, your salary and your start date. 



  
 

  
  

 
     

     
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

    
 
 
 

 
 

    
  

 
   

  
    

    
  

    
     

    
 
 

 

 

4. Identify each interest/transaction (and provide the requested information) that 
you or any of your immediate family members or any persons who live with 
you in your house have held or engaged in with the charter school(s) 
operated by the education corporation during the time you have served on the 
Board, and in the six-month period prior to such service. If there has been no 
such interest or transaction, write None. Please note that if you answered 
Yes to Questions 2-3 above, you need not disclose again your employment 
status, salary, etc. 

Date(s) Nature of 
financial 

interest/transacti 
on 

Steps taken to 
avoid a conflict 

of interest, 
(e.g., did not 
vote, did not 
participate in 
discussion) 

Name of person 
holding interest or 

engaging in 
transaction and 
relationship to 

you 

NONE 

5. Identify each individual, business, corporation, union association, firm, 
partnership, franchise holding company, joint-stock company, business or real 
estate trust, non-profit organization, or other organization or group of people 
doing business with the school(s) operated by the education corporation and 
in which such entity, during the time of your tenure as a trustee, you and/or 
your immediate family member(s) or person(s) living in your house had a 
financial interest or other relationship. If you are a member, director, officer or 
employee of an organization formally partnered with the school(s) that is/are 
doing business with the school(s) through a management or services 
agreement, please identify only the name of the organization, your position in 
the organization, and the relationship between such organization and the 
school(s). If there was no financial interest, write “None.” 

NONE 



 
 
 
 

        
 

   
 

      
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
          

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________ 

Organization 
conducting 

business with 
the school(s) 

Nature of 
business 
conducte 

d 

Approximat 
e value of 

the 
business 

conducted 

Name of Trustee 
and/or immediate 
family member of 

household holding an 
interest in the 
organization 

conducting business 
with the school(s) and 

the nature of the 
interest 

Steps 
taken to 

avoid 
conflict of 

interest 

NONE 

William Higgins  8/1/19 _____________________________ 
Signature Date 

Please note that this document is considered a public record and, as such, may 
be made available to members of the public upon request under the Freedom of 
Information Law.  Personal contact information provided below will be redacted. 

Business Telephone: 

Business Address: 

E-mail Address: 

Home Telephone: 

Home Address: 

last revised 08/21/2018 





















From:  
  
  

  
  

Hi Leena, 

Thanks for handling this. 

Best, 
Ingrid 





































	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	

2. INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide response relative to VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide a response 

relative to all trustees. 

a. Total Number of BOT Members on 
June 30, 2019 

b.Total Number of Members Added 
During 2018 19 

c. Total Number of Members who 
Departed during 2018 19 

d.Total Number of members in 2018 19, 
as set by in Bylaws, Resolution or
Minutes 

3. Number of Board meetings 

held during 2018-19 

4. Number of Board meetings 

scheduled for 2019-20 

Thank you. 

12 

4 

0 

12 

10 

10 

4 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Entry 9 - Board Meeting Minutes 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

Instructions for submitting minutes of the BOT monthly meetings 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized schools must either provide a link to a complete set of 
minutes that are posted on the charter school website, or upload a complete set of board meeting 

minutes from July 2018 June 2019, which should match the number of meetings held during the 2018 19 

school year. 

SOUTH BRONX CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOL IV 

Are all monthly BOT meeting No 

minutes posted, which should 

match the number of meetings 

held during 2018-19 school year, 
on the charter school's website? 

B. Upload all monthly Board meeting minutes, which should match the number of 
meetings held during the 2018-19 school year. 

Combine all monthly meeting minutes into one .PDF file. 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/110408592/wNFCVDEEJA/ 

1 / 1 







 
 

 
 

 
 

    
           

 
 
 

  
    

     
  

     
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

     
    

 
 

    
   

 
  
 

  
 

    
     

Board Meeting Minutes 

February 12, 2019 

Classical Charter Schools prepare students for college preparatory high schools and colleges.  Through a 
classical curriculum and highly structured setting, students become liberated scholars and citizens of 
impeccable character. 

Trustees Attending: Mr. Ben Arabia, Mr. C. Stephen Baldwin, Mrs. Ingrid Bateman, Mr. James 
Hart, Prof. Kathryn Heleniak, Mr. Bill Higgins, Mr. J. Kevin Murphy, Mr. James Maher Jr. 
Trustees Calling In: Mr. Lawrence Hirsch. Mrs. Raquel Zaki 
Guests: Mr. Lester Long 

I. Call to Order 

There being a quorum, the Chair called the Meeting to order at 767 Fifth Avenue at 6:05pm. 

II. Review of Minutes 

The Board Members unanimously approved the minutes from the last Board Meeting on 
1/15/2019. 

III. Chairman’s Remarks 

The Chair began by introducing a new candidate for Trustee, Ms. Veena Malpani, whom many 
of the Trustees had met the previous evening. Ms. Malpani is an attorney by training who works 
as the compliance officer in the New York office of BC Partners, an international private equity 
firm. Though she had not had prior experience with board service with a non-profit organization, 
her experience as a compliance officer and the personal qualities that characterize her 
performance in that role highly recommend her as a trustee. 

The trustees: 

VOTED by unanimous acclaim to elect Ms. Malpani as a Trustee for a term to end on 6/30/2020. 

The Trustees also noted that in order to maintain a balance on the board among the rolling 2 year 
terms of service, the election of Mr. Hart and Ms. Zaki would extend to 6/30/2019 with further 



 
 

 
 

 
  

  
   

    
  

 
 

   
    
      

       
    

   
  
  

 
     

 
   

 
  

   
 

      
 

  
   

     
  

    
   

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
     

    

extension. This staggering of terms together with the existing structure means that half of the 
Trustees will come up for election each June 30, 2019 

IV. Executive Director Report 

A. Branding 

The E.D. deferred to Mr. Arabia who presented a brief power point report on his 
meetings with Instructional Coaches and the Deans regarding “branding” of the school, the 
object of which is to present each school as having its own personality, but sharing a common 
identity with other Classical Charter Schools. The Instructional Coaches characterized the 
“brand” with such adjectives as “professional, rigorous, high-achieving, urgent, passionate, 
supported”. In terms of attracting faculty, they opined “The Classicorps program is really 
attractive-a guaranteed Master’s degree and the training available is a huge draw for new 
teachers deciding where to go.” The Deans commented on their work helping set priorities by 
“Helping scholars transcend their realities so (that) they don’t become a barrier to learning” by 
dealing with “school work first, then .. personal issues.” The school has retained Ms. Amber 
Roussell to co-ordinate the effort. She should be included in any media connections, events, or 
other public forums. The chair commented that the measure of the effort’s success would be to 
be thought of with the “Success Academies” in the public’s mind as a quality charter school. 

In response to questions about the different audiences to which the “branding” messages 
should be directed, obviously prospective parents, especially with children who may be ELL or 
SPED scholars, and talented prospective faculty are among the highest priorities. As it now 
stands, CCS receives about 16 applications for every seat, but attrition among scholars averages 
about 10% p.a. through 8th grade, necessitating some “backfilling”. Each school has its own 
lottery and our yield varies across schools ranging from 40% to 80% of acceptances. Various 
considerations influence the parents’ enrollment decisions including location and travel time, 
siblings, the availability of other alternatives, and the influence of other parents. Now that NYC 
has a centralized application process, filing an extra application requires little additional effort. 
While we are not currently part of the common application process, Mrs. Bateman observed that, 
in the interest of the parents, we should make every effort to make the application process as 
convenient to them as possible. We currently solicit applications from pre-K programs and more 
extensively by flyers and, in light of our experience with the yield calculations for each school; 
we will extend acceptances to more scholars than those for whom we have a seat. Preference is 
given to those scholars who live in the DOE district, for example, all of the scholars at School I 
reside in District 12. We especially want to enroll scholars with IEP’s and will administer the 
NYSELAT, or state language test, on enrollment to identify scholars who may be English 
language learners. We wish to be seen as part of the community, much as Democracy Prep is, 
and we continue to experiment attractive improvements to the program, such as offering soccer 
at School III. 

B. Alumni 

Mr. Maher and the E.D. met with the director of alumni relations at Buckley to learn 
what mechanisms they have put in place to track their graduates. Mr. Maher will summarize the 



 
   

 
  

  
 
     

  
  

  
 

 
     

   
      

   
 

 
    

 
 

    
 
 

  
 

 
 

    
 

   
    

 
   

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

   
    

    
  

points of the meeting in a memo. Messrs. Maher and Hirsch will work with Ms. Roussell and 
Ms. Cota to begin developing our approach to the issue that promises to test the hypothesis that 
our graduates will be prepared for college level academics. 

C. Development & Support 

The E.D. met with the directors of the Tiger Foundation to review and report on our 
progress toward becoming a more professional organization. Among the developments he noted 
was School II’s nomination for a U.S. Department of Education Blue Ribbon award effectively 
placing it among the top 350 elementary schools in the country. (School I received such an 
accolade back in 2014.) 

In this regard, the business mapping project is yielding some very useful insights, 
especially about errors that seem to creep into the system due to misunderstandings of various 
responsibilities. The study is also identifying some functions that can be automated, saving effort 
and expense. We are about a year ahead of Success Academy in a project that will generate some 
follow on work. 

The “Neon” software, which will track private contributions and solicitations, has been 
installed, but donations from our solicitations this autumn are still coming in. The trustees 
expressed some concern that they be kept informed of those contributions so that they can also 
acknowledge them, besides the school forwarding an obligatory letter to substantiate tax 
deductions. The program has some functionality to search for donors by identity in the database, 
but it remains unclear whether sending an e-mail acknowledgement automatically is feasible, 
presuming we have the donors e-mail address. Ms. Bateman volunteered to review this with Mr. 
Gibb and Mr. Hart may also look into the functionality. 

D) IT 
Our IT Specialist, Mr. Sanoguet, will be leaving and we are looking at the possibility of 

splitting the function into two areas of responsibility. The first would be handling the operation 
and maintenance of the active devices that may even be outsourced to a third party. The second 
set of responsibilities would encompass those of a Director of IT who would supervise the use of 
“software as a service” (SaaS). While the E.D. mooted the idea of moving Data and Research 
into IT, Mr. Hart strongly advised against it. He suggested that the Director of IT role should be 
staffed by a business oriented person who would make sure that the software would serve the 
people who would derive the most benefit from it and be able to query it as needed. Kahn 
Academy, for example, and Stanford provide good examples of how the functions might be 
structured. Separately, there may be some merit to elevating the Data and Research function. 

E) Expansion 

With respect to our applications for new charters, we all need to be re-fingerprinted and 
that should be accomplished as quickly as possible since only 7 charters remain. Although the 
charter applications were submitted in well before the deadline, we have seemingly been 
outmaneuvered by 19 applications “from whom” submitted by SUNY vs. the 5 submitted 
through the NYSED, ours among them. This means that the applications submitted through 



 
  

   
  

    
     

    
   

    
   

   
    

 
 

 
  

  
  

     
  

 
 

  
 
   

   
  

  
 

  
 

   
 

   
   
  

 
     

 
 

    
  

  
   

   

SUNY will probably preempt our applications and we have no expectation that SUNY would 
work with the SED. There are opportunities in Rochester or Westchester or for a high school, but 
all of those would necessitate substantial alterations to the programs as structured. There is also 
the possibility of applying for an increase in enrollment through a modification of our existing 
charters, but we are very constrained by space in all of our locations. Moreover, the 22 charters 
that have been handed back to the Charter School Office were eliminated when they were turned 
in, thus effectively reducing the cap of 400 charter schools in the state and 50 in the city. Another 
alternative would be to work with other charter school organizations and funders to lobby for an 
alteration to the cap, but that option may not be viable politically. The pendulum of popularity 
may be swinging away from the charters as they are not a panacea and some have 
underperformed for various reasons. Moreover, the educational bureaucracy may view them as 
“destabilizing the system.” We expect School V to open in 2020 as planned, co-locating with 
School V from a temporary annex grades 6-8 from School II. 

F. OCS Notification 

We have received a letter from the NYSED Office of Charter Schools informing us that, 
in comparison with comparable schools in the District, we are falling short in enrolling a 
comparable number of SPED scholars, which will require some investigation (See Addendum). 
One explanation may be that because of the extra support scholars receive; at risk scholars at the 
margin may be declassified. The news to be celebrated is that our enrollment of ELL scholars is 
commensurate with the proportions of those scholars at other schools in the district. 

V. Financials 

The Finance Committee had just reviewed the financial statements ending 12/31/2018 the 
day before; so most of the Trustees had not had the time to review them. Consequently, a 
resolution to approve the statements will be deferred until the next meeting. The Treasurer will 
circulate the spreadsheet with the supporting notes to the Trustees in the meantime. 

VI. Other Business and Adjournment 

o Mr. Hirsch mentioned a neighbor for whom board service is impossible, but who 
would nevertheless like to engage with the school and its mission. He suggested a 
non-trustee advisory council as an alternative. 

o The E.D. is continuing his residency with Success Academy. 
o All schools fall within their NYC DOE districts, so schools V and VI would be 

located in Districts 10 and 12. 
o Our policy about transferring students among Classical Schools remains as it is 

because December is the only month in which the Board of Regents will entertain 
amendments to existing charters. 

o Our attorney and advisor, Mr. O’Neill, is drafting a paper in which he will 
compare the pass rates and costs of CMO schools to schools organized in a simple 
charter format. 

o Our 8th grade scholars will graduate June 28, 2019. In the past, Fordham 
University’s Keating Hall has been the venue for these ceremonies. 



   
 

 
  
  

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

  

  

o The next meeting will take place at J.P. Morgan’s offices at 383 Madison Avenue 
at 6:00 p.m. on March 12, 2019. 

There being no further immediate business the Trustees: 

VOTED to adjourn. 

J. Kevin Murphy, Secretary 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    
           

 
 

  
  

    
 

 
   

 
    
    

    
    
    

    
    

    
 

  
  

    
    

 
 

  
  

Board Meeting Minutes 

Addendum 

February 27, 2019 

Classical Charter Schools prepare students for college preparatory high schools and colleges.  Through a 
classical curriculum and highly structured setting, students become liberated scholars and citizens of 
impeccable character. 

Pursuant to the letter of notification from the Office of Charter Schools, the E.D. met 
with the undersigned to ascertain by how much our enrollment of SPED scholars fell short of 
comparable levels in the respective District. The information is summarized in the table below: 

Special Populations Proportion of Enrollment 2016-17 
ELL SPED Economically 

Distressed 
SBCCS I 18% 12% 89% 

District 12 21% 24% 85% 

SBCCS II 16% 12% 86% 
District 7 13% 26% 93% 

SBCCS III/IV 19% 12% 88% 
District 9 25% 23% 90% 

This is the most recent comparable data that is available. The proportions of scholars who are 
English Language Learners or are from Economically Distressed backgrounds do not seem to 
vary that much from those statistics in the Districts; indeed ELL scholars at School II and 
scholars coming from Economically Distressed backgrounds at School I, exceed those of 
comparable DOE schools in the Districts. The proportion of SPED scholars, however, seems to 
run at about 1 scholar in 4 at District schools as compared to 1 scholar in 8 at SBCCS. 



     
 

     
      

  
   

 
 

 
  

 
 

  

The question is what the discrepancy may mean. Our scholars don’t arrive with 
Individual Education Plans: the schools develop IEP’s for scholars relatively early in their 
academic careers. The issue may well be framed as to whether CCS, through our IEP 
classification process are systematically committing Type I Errors, i.e. falsely rejecting the 
hypothesis that a scholar should be classified as SPED, when it is really true; or whether the 
Districts are systematically committing Type II Errors, i.e. accepting the hypothesis that a 
scholar should be classified as SPED, when it is really false. 

J. Kevin Murphy, Secretary 







































































 
 

 
 

 
 

    
           

 
 
 

 
   

  
      

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
  

  
 

 
  

 
 

Board Meeting Minutes 

November 13, 2018 

Classical Charter Schools prepare students for college preparatory high schools and colleges.  Through a 
classical curriculum and highly structured setting, students become liberated scholars and citizens of 
impeccable character. 

Trustees Attending: Mr. Ben Arabia, Mr. C. Stephen Baldwin, Mrs. Ingrid Bateman, 
Prof. Kathryn Heleniak, Mr. Lawrence Hirsch, Mr. James Maher, Mr. J. Kevin Murphy 
Absent: Mr. Bill Higgins 
Guests: Mr. Lester Long, E.D. 

I. Call to Order 

The Chair called the meeting to order at 767 Madison Avenue at 6:05pm. 

II. Review of Minutes 

The Trustees: 

VOTED to approve the draft of the 10/23/2018 minutes, which had been previously circulated 
for review. 

III. Chairman’s Remarks 

The Chair waved his comments to proceed immediately with the ED’s report. 

IV. Executive Director’s Report 

A) Attendance 

The E.D. briefly reviewed the Attendance and lateness policies at the school. Briefly, 7 
late drop-offs count as 1 absence, and 15 unexcused absences will require the scholar to attend 
summer school while 28 necessitate that the scholar be held over. Absences for doctors’ 
appointments and the like are excused. Early pick-ups of scholars for various reasons have been 
growing, consequently they will be treated in the same vein as a late drop-off, i.e. 7 early pick-
ups will be tantamount to 1 absence. 

The statistics for retention generally are that about 8% of the scholars are held over, about 
7% for academic reasons and 1% for behavioral issues. Parents are well advised in advance. 



 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 
   
 

  
 

 
 

 
   

  
 

    
 

 
   

 
 

   
  

    
 

 
   

   
  

  
   

  
  

  
 

 
  

  
 

  
                                                
   

The trustees also briefly discussed the number of scholars at School I. During the review 
with the our liaison with the state, it developed that matriculation was in excess of the number 
authorized by the state by about 25 scholars, a variance that was noted and questioned, although 
the state is only reimbursing CCS for the 470 authorized scholars. The upshot is that the variance 
should be explained and we clearly want to retain those scholars who are already enrolled. 
Consequently, 

The trustees 

VOTED to increase to the number of scholars, subject to the approval of the Regents, from 470 
scholars to 500 scholars, so as to bring our actual enrollment in line with our authorized 
enrollment. 

B) Facilities 

The Official reviews by the Department of Transportation, which oversees the traffic 
patterns the School IV building will occasion, and the Bureau of Standards and Appeals, which 
is responsible for the re-zoning of the property, are proceeding slowly, although we are facing a 
fixed deadline of August, 2020 for occupancy of the yet-to-be approved building. The delays are 
obviously reducing the construction period. 

In addressing the issue of how to build out the network using the “self-incubation” 
strategy, we face a mismatch between the timetable necessary for approvals and construction and 
the timetable for application for charters and start up of the new school. The application and start 
up of the new school must precede the construction, but the review, approval, and construction 
process is the longer process. Whereas we have historically applied for a new charter in alternate 
years, personnel permitting, the funding requirements may necessitate applying for 2 charters in 
one year. Moreover, we may want to consider amending the student transfer policy, with the 
state’s approval, so that scholars can attend the CCS school nearest their residence. 

Working together, the E.D. and Mr. Maher tabled a more detailed “Real Estate Strategic 
Plan” 1 summarizing the Organizational Vision (with regards to “no-gap” academic results and 
sustainability), the Operational Strategy, the current real estate foot-print with 5 locations and 4 
charters, expansion through a “self-incubation strategy” using a combination of permanent and 
temporary facilities, the broad parameters for Leasing, Acquisitions and Financing, the 
Archetypal Build-Out program for Classical, the projected timing for Charter applications, and 5 
appendices supplying orientation for Contacts, Space Allocation, Community Boards, relevant 
representatives for the Legislature and City Council, Construction Timetable, and a projected 
Replication Cost Analysis. 

The implementation of the plan will take place in a changing environment. As a result of 
changes in the last U. S. tax law, “Opportunity Zones” have been created with generous tax 
advantages that may have important consequences for duly designated areas. The applications 
for charters are becoming increasingly complex and demanding, as the number of charters 

1 See Appendix 1, which is being sent as a PDF herewith. 



 
 

 
 

 

available in the City, subject to a cap of 50, decreases. Moreover, the DOE will now only permit 
co-locations for special purpose charters, for example those serving autistic children. The “Real 
Estate Strategic Plan” then is a snapshot of CCS plans for expansion in the context of further 
developments in the policies of major stakeholders. 



  
 

 
 
   

  
  
     

  
    

 
 

 
    

  
 

 
 

 
 
  
 

 
 

  
  

  
  

   
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 

   
  

 
 

 
  

B) Development 

The E.D. and Mr. Arabia together have secured two significant grants, which will 
advance CCS considerably toward its development goals for the year. 

In a somewhat related vein, past donors have wondered whether our graduates really are 
going to college after their secondary programs and it would behoove us to pull together this 
information. The data is not within our direct control, although KIPP and a number of private 
elementary schools are very successful in gathering it and using it to develop alumni support 
networks. Through his service aiding our scholars with their high school applications, Mr. 
Frumkin maintains records of their secondary school choices and there is the occasional anecdote 
that filters back about a graduate being selected as Salutatorian of his high school class. The 
internship programs in which some scholars participate, especially Prep for Prep and 
Breakthrough whose principal aims are to help scholars with the transition through high school 
to college, also may be willing to assist us in this regard. 

C) Personnel 

The ED promised to forward to the Trustees the results of the annual faculty survey. 

V. Trustee Recruitment 

Given the importance of recruiting additional trustees, the Chair suggested that we might 
want to give some thought to forming an ad hoc group or possibly a Nominating Committee to 
review CCS By-Laws and those of other comparable schools, as necessary, to determine the 
desirability and scope of term limits for trustees serving in official capacities. Consequently, 
such a group might also explore the interest and availability of other members to assume those 
roles. A further purpose of such a Nominating Committee would be to develop candidates for 
trusteeship possessed of certain experiences that are pertinent to our mission, e. g. roots in the 
local community, a project-oriented IT background, experience in NYC real estate, especially in 
the Bronx, a related legal background either in laws affecting Charter Schools or lease contracts, 
a background in elementary education or child development, and fund-raising. 

Mrs. Bateman suggested (and has put in place) an on-line repository where information 
about candidates can be collated and their place in the vetting and induction process tracked. 
This should allow for parallel processing of candidates for trusteeship. While our current process 
involving a visit to the schools, meetings with the E.D., the Executive Committee or 3 trustees, 
before presentation to the board is somewhat informal; the consensus was that over time it has 
proved effective and that it is fairly efficient for the candidates, so it was decided to forgo a 
formal Nominating Committee at this time. The board then targeted 3/31/19 as a deadline for 
bringing at least one new trustee on board. With the seniority of many of the board and new 
charter applications pending, it is every trustee’s responsibility to assist in this recruitment and 
induction process. 



 
 

 
    

  
    

  
  

  
 

 
 

     
    

  
 
   
 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

VI. Annual Appeal Letter 

Mrs. Bateman took the opportunity to discuss the status of the draft of our annual Appeal 
Letter and its distribution. This year’s letter will highlight significant milestones such as the 
occupancy of the new building and the placement of our graduating scholars. The draft will be 
circulated both as a Word file and a PDF with blank stationery and envelopes for personalization. 
Names and addresses of solicitations should be added to the master file to cross check against 
donations as they are received and for future reference and analysis. 

VII. Other Business and Adjournment 

After the formal agenda ended, there was an announcement that a holiday 
gathering for the faculty and staff would be held in a venue now changed to Bierstrasse Harlem 
Beer Garden, 2346 12th Avenue, on 12/7/18 at 6:30 p.m., affording the trustees an opportunity to 
better acquaint ourselves with them in a social setting. 

The trustees: 

VOTED to next meet on December 11th at 6:00pm at 977 Fox Street, Bronx, N.Y. and 
adjourn. 

Respectfully submitted, 

J. Kevin Murphy, Secretary 













	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

Entry 10 Enrollment and Retention of Special 
Populations 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

Instructions for Reporting Enrollment and Retention Strategies 

Describe the efforts the charter school has made in 2018 19 toward meeting targets to attract and retain 

enrollment of students with disabilities, English language learners/Multilingual learners, and students who 

are economically disadvantaged. In addition, describe the school’s plans for meeting or making progress 

toward meeting its enrollment and retention targets in 2019 20. 

SOUTH BRONX CLASSICAL CHARTER SCHOOL IVSection Heading 

Recruitment/Attraction Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Recruitment Efforts in 2018 19 

SBCCS IV consistently attracts scholars from
Econom its home district (9), with little recruitment
ically effort. SBCCS IV consistently enjoys a long
Disadva student waitlist and has had continued to 
ntaged serve a population that is at least 90%

economically disadvantaged. 

Beginning in 2016 2017, SBCCS IV began to
improve its identification of English
Language Learners. Rather than
administering the Home Language
Questionnaire (HLQ) to parents as part of the
student enrollment packet, SBCCS IV began
to administer the survey one on one to
parents, in person. In previous years, parent

English error in filling out the HLQ has led to under
Langua reporting of scholars who don’t speak English
ge fluently, or don’t speak exclusively English at
Learner home, either due to not understanding the
s/Multili form or fear of ‘labeling’ their child. During
ngual new student enrollment in 2016  2017 (for 
Learner new 
s students starting in 2016 2017), a series of

questions were asked to ensure that parents
have completed the form completely and
accurately. Spanish speaking staff clarified
the purpose of this form to Spanish speaking
parents. We ensured that HLQs were
administered in the parent’s preferred 

Describe Recruitment Plans in 2019 20 

SBCCS IV will continue to serve scholars in its 
home district and will execute a more 
aggressive student recruitment plan, if needs
arise. 

SBCCS IV's enrollment of English Language
Learners grew from 13% in 2015 2016 to
18% in 2016 2017 to 24% in 2017 2018 and 
to so we will continue to implement
successful strategies to recruit this
population of scholars. 

1 / 4 



	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

language. 

Student 
s with 
Disabilit 
ies 

To recruit students with disabilities, SBCCS IV 
engages in an aggressive student
recruitment plan, which includes: 

1. All materials in our mass mailings of
school information and student applications
to nursery schools, Head Starts, and
community organizations have Spanish
translations and information about the 
special services we provide. 

2. All SBCCS IV information session are held 
with a Spanish speaking translator. 

3. We have attended several student 
recruitment fairs. At both fairs, a bilingual
staff member was present for its entirety.
Information about SBCCS IV Special Services
was also distributed at both fairs. 

4. We distributed flyers at locations all over
the South Bronx. All flyers were in both
Spanish and English. 

5. All paper applications are in both English
and Spanish. 

6. We gave presentations to local community
organizations that serve ELL populations,
including Mott Haven Community Partnership
Program and South Bronx Churches. 

7. We contacted and distributed information 
about SBCCS IV, in both English and Spanish,
to seven local NYCHA housing developments. 

8. We run Facebook advertisement 
translated into English, Spanish, and French. 

9. We mailed information pamphlets and
student applications, in both English and
Spanish to 12,000+ residents of the South
Bronx. 

SBCCS IV will continue to implement
successful strategies in 2019 2020. 

Retention Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Retention Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Retention Plans in 2019 20 

We know that the retention of our At Risk 
population (Economically Disadvantaged, 

2 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

English Language Learners, and Students
with Disabilities) is important. At SBCCS IV,
we are committed to supporting all of our
scholars to meet the high expectations of our
rigorous academic program. Over the past
two years, we have taken a more targeted
approach to support our scholars with
language and learning differences. 

Beginning in Kindergarten, or when a scholar
is identified as a student with a disability or
an English Language Learner, we establish a
close relationship with the family. This
includes regular communication home via
home school logs and phone calls, as well as
meetings with the team of educators who
work with their scholars. During this contact,
we communicate their scholar’s progress,
areas of growth and areas of concern. We
regularly evaluate changes in service
depending on scholar progress, and service
providers maintain at least monthly contact
with parents. We frequently send home
enrichment activities for scholars in areas we Econom have identified for growth. Parents areically provided with staff members’ contactDisadva information and an open door policy isntaged strongly communicated. 

When a scholar is struggling, we invite
parents in to observe and work as a team to
determine how to better support the scholar.
We also see it as our role to educate parents
about their scholar’s needs. For scholars with 
disabilities, we work with the CSE and the 
parent to determine the appropriate setting.
If we do not have a setting that is identified
as appropriate for the scholar, we
supplement our current services to ensure
the scholar continues to make progress, and
we also accompany parents when looking at
alternate placements, if they wish to move to
a different setting. In our communication
with parents, we emphasize a commitment
to each scholar’s growth through whatever
resources we have available. 
In 2016 2017, we began looking into
expanding our current services to include
more restrictive settings, special education
focused parent groups, bilingual resources to
support academics, and ongoing teacher
development to support this population of 

SBCCS IV will continue to reflect upon its
support of its At Risk population, including
their families, and improve upon its
practices. In 2017 2018, SBCCS IV hired a
Director of Special Services, and an
expanded Special Services team, which we
believe will better support the needs of our
scholars. 

In 2019 2020, we are working to improve our
instructional coaching of our special
education teachers as well as the efficacy of
our special education (SETSS) curriculum. 

3 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	

students. We have found great success with
these initiatives over the past two years. 

English
Langua 
ge
Learner 
s/Multili
ngual
Learner 
s 

Student 
s with 
Disabilit 
ies 
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Entry 11 Classroom Teacher and Administrator 

Attrition 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

Report changes in teacher and administrator staffing. 

Instructions for completing the Classroom Teacher and Administrator Attrition Tables 

Charter schools must complete the tables titled 2018-2019 Classroom Teacher and 

Administrator Attrition to report changes in teacher and administrator staffing 

during the 2018-2019 school year. Please provide the full time equivalent (FTE) of 

staff on June 30, 2018; the FTE for any departed staff from July 1, 2018 through June 

30, 2019; the FTE for added staff from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019; and the 

FTE of staff added in newly created positions from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 

using the tables provided. 

1. Classroom Teacher Attrition Table 

FTE Classroom FTE Classroom FTE Classroom 
Teachers on 
6/30/18 

Teachers 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

Teachers Filling
Vacant Positions 
7/1/18  6/30/19 

15 2 0 

2. Administrator Position Attrition Table 

FTE 
Administrative 
Positions on 
6/30/18 

2 

FTE 
Administrators 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

2 

FTE 
Administrators 
Filling Vacant
Positions 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

1 

FTE Classroom FTE of 
Teachers Added Classroom 
in New Positions Teachers on 
7/1/18 6/30/19 6/3019 

0 18 

FTE FTE 
Administrators Administrative 
Added in New Positions on 
Positions 7/1/18

6/30/19 
6/30/19 

0 1 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

		
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	

3. Tell your school's story 

Charter schools may provide additional information in this section of the Annual 
Report about their respective teacher and administrator attrition rates as some 

teacher or administrator departures do not reflect advancement or movement within 

the charter school networks. Schools may provide additional detail to reflect a 

teacher’s advancement up the ladder to a leadership position within the network or 

an administrator’s movement to lead a new network charter school. 

(No response) 

4. Charter schools must ensure that all prospective employees receive clearance 

through the NYSED Office of School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) 

prior to employment. After an employee has been cleared, schools are required to 

maintain proof of such clearance in the file of each employee. For the safety of all 
students, charter schools must take immediate steps to terminate the employment of 

individuals who have been denied clearance. Once the employees have been 

terminated, the school must terminate the request for clearance in the TEACH 

system. 

Have all employees have been cleared through the NYSED TEACH system? 

Yes 

5. For perspective or current employees whose clearance has been denied, have you 

terminated their employment and removed them from the TEACH system? 

Not Applicable 

Thank you 

2 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	

Entry 12 Uncertified Teachers 
Last updated: 08/01/2019 

Instructions for Reporting Percent of Uncertified Teachers 

The table below is reflective of the information collected through the online portal for 
compliance with New York State Education Law 2854(3)(a-1) for teaching staff 
qualifications. Enter the relevant full time equivalent (FTE) count of teachers in each 

column. For example, a school with 20 full time teachers and 5 half time teachers 

would have an FTE count of 22.5. If more than one column applies to a particular 
teacher, please select one column for the FTE count. Please do not include 

paraprofessionals, such as teacher assistants. 

FTE count of uncertified teachers on 6/30/18, and each uncertified teacher should be 

counted only once. 

1. Total FTE count of uncertified teachers (6 30 19) 

2. FTE count of uncertified teachers with at least three years
of elementary, middle or secondary classroom teaching
experience (6 30 19) 

3. FTE count of uncertified teachers who are tenured or 
tenure track college faculty (6 30 19) 

4. FTE count of uncertified teachers with two years of Teach
for America experience (6 30 19) 

5. FTE count of uncertified teachers with exceptional
business, professional, artistic, athletic, or military
experience (6 30 19) 

6. FTE count of uncertified teachers who do not fit into any
of the prior four categories (6 30 19) 

FTE Count of All Uncertified 

Teachers as of 6/30/19 

18 

FTE Count of All Certified 

Teachers as of 6/30/19 

14 

Thank you. 

FTE Count 

4 

0 

0 

0 

0 

4 
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